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The Five Colours of Change

Blue is based on the
rational design and
implementation of change,
which requires defining
outcomes and planning
change to deliver thereon.

Yellow is based on
socio-political ideas,
where change is seen as a
negotiation, and is achieved
by forming coalitions and
getting buy in.

Green refers to
learning and
organisational
development and to
learning more effective
ways of acting.

Red focuses on
motivation, stimulating
people in the right way,
strengthening team spirit
and inspiring a vision of
the future.

White views change
as continuous and
one must be open
to opportunities and
remove obstacles.
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Legislative mandates
The Office of the FAIS Ombud was founded in terms of Section 20 of the Financial
Advisory and Intermediary Services Act (37 of 2002) (“FAIS Act”). The Office is
also a Schedule 3A Entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (1 of 1999)
(“PFMA”).
The Accounting Authority for purposes of the PFMA is the Commissioner of the
Financial Sector Conduct Authority (“FSCA”), through whom the Office reports to
the Minister of Finance. From time to time and as may be required, the Office also
reports to the Select Committee on Finance and Public Service, by invitation.
The main purpose of the FAIS Ombud is to consider and dispose of complaints in a
procedurally fair, informal, economical and expeditious manner, and by reference
to what is equitable in all the circumstances.
A further function of the FAIS Ombud is to resolve complaints in terms of the
Financial Services Ombud Schemes Act (37 of 2004) (“FSOS Act”), which cannot
be dealt with by any other voluntary Ombud scheme, or where there is uncertainty
over jurisdiction.
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Vision
The vision of the FAIS Ombud is to be a preferred
and world-class dispute resolution forum providing
an accessible, impartial, efficient and professional
service, respected by all stakeholders, provided by
committed and passionate staff.

Mission
The mission of the FAIS Ombud is to
promote consumer protection and
enhance the integrity of the financial
services industry through resolving
complaints impartially, expeditiously
and economically.

Our credo
We believe our first responsibility is to the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa and to the statutory mandate
which created our organisation. We are completely independent and deal with all disputes fairly and impartially.
Our service is for people from all backgrounds. We will look at the facts of each complaint, not at how well the case
is presented. No one should need any special expertise or professional help in order to bring their complaint to us.
We aim to give clear, sound and logical reasons for our decisions - any fair-minded person will understand why we
reached a particular conclusion.
We are not bound by formal and rigid procedures to resolve complaints and we aim to be flexible in our approach.
We will engage all concerned to help both consumers and financial services providers understand their respective
rights and responsibilities. Our ultimate aim is to reduce the level of complaints and improve confidence in the
financial services industry.
We must constantly strive to educate both ourselves and those we serve about our services and make our services
easily accessible. We will ensure all parties in a dispute have an opportunity to present their case. In doing so, we will
ensure the dignity of those we serve, by treating each with the utmost respect and courtesy.
We must at all times build a collegiate base that is diverse and equitable, and encourage contributions to our core
business. We are responsible to ensure that each of our colleagues is regarded as an individual and experiences an
affirming and empowering learning environment.
We must be mindful of the ways in which we help our colleagues fulfil their family responsibilities. We must
encourage each other to communicate our opinions, feelings and indeed, our grievances in an environment conducive
to amicable resolutions, not recriminations. We will support each other, to be innovative, to exercise reasonable
initiative, and to share our learning.
We are responsible to the communities in which we live and work, and to the larger international community. We
must be good citizens and support civic initiatives.
We believe our final responsibility is to the industry. Business must make a sound profit, underpinned by good
corporate governance and moral values. We must explore and suggest fresh approaches to consumer services in the
course of our enterprise.
We believe when we operate according to these principles, we will all realise a significant improvement.
Vision, Mission, Our Credo
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Message by the
Minister
of Finance
Annual Report 2018/2019

Whilst much progress
was made during the
last couple of years in
respect of market conduct
within the existing legal
framework, it became
evident that more could be
done, and differently so, in
order to achieve structural
change and a more
inclusive financial sector
for all South Africans.

During December 2014, National Treasury released a document entitled “Treating
Customers Fairly in the Financial Sector: A Draft Market Conduct Policy Framework for
South Africa”. With this, the journey of the Twin Peaks Regulation Model commenced.
This reform aimed to significantly improve consumer protection in the financial sector,
address financial inclusion and transformation, and drive better consumer outcomes.
Empowered consumers are able to make informed decisions about financial products and
services, and hold financial institutions accountable for failing to render financial services
with the necessary due skill, care and diligence. The Office of the FAIS Ombud provides
an avenue to consumers, free of charge, where they can seek relief and lodge complaints
against those financial services providers that failed to uphold the General Code of
Conduct for Financial Services Providers. This is evident from the 9323 complainants that
were assisted by the FAIS Ombud during the past financial year.
On 1 April 2018, the Financial Sector Regulation Act (9 of 2017) became effective, with
the objective to achieve a stable financial system that works in the interest of financial
consumers and supports balanced and sustainable economic growth. An important
chapter of this piece of legislation which impacts the Office of the FAIS Ombud, is the
introduction of the Ombud Council. The Council will assist in ensuring that financial
consumers have access to, and are able to use affordable, effective, independent and
fair alternative dispute resolution processes for complaints against financial institutions.
Whilst this chapter is not yet effective, substantial progress has been made for the
establishment of the Council, and to create an “One Ombud system for All”. During
the past financial year, the FAIS Ombud has aligned its strategy, policies and internal
processes with the objective of preparing the Office for the changes that will be brought
about by impending regulatory changes, once effective.
The Office of the FAIS Ombud plays a critical role in not only the effective resolution of
complaints, but also in respect of consumer education. Amidst the uncertainty posed by
what a combined Ombud structure would entail for the FAIS Ombud, the excellent results
achieved by the Office nonetheless confirms its commitment to drive the objective of
treating customers fairly and holding accountable those financial services providers who
fail in this regard. There was increase of 34% in the number of complaints settled, with a
settlement value of R66 668 302 in favour of consumers. The various consumer education
initiatives embarked upon by the Ombud is an indication that vulnerable consumers are
also being reached to ensure their protection.
I would like to thank the Ombud and his team for their passion and commitment to drive
the Office to new heights, and to embrace the change that is to come.

T.T Mboweni, MP
Minister of Finance
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Commissioner’s
Report

This report relating to the financial
period 2018-2019 is symbolic
of the changes occurring in the
country and in the financial
services sector where the Twin
Peaks regulators are now in place
and ushering the regulatory
changes that address market
conduct and fair treatment of
financial services consumers, as
well as the financial soundness of
institutions and financial stability.

This period also marks the first year of tenure of the 3rd Ombud who
remains committed to building on the solid foundations created by the
previous 2 incumbents, the late Mr. Charles Pillai and Ms. Noluntu Bam.
The Ombud’s office continues making strides in fulfilling its dual mandate of
consumer protection and maintaining the integrity of the financial services
industry in resolving complaints in an expeditious, fair, informal, cost
effective, independent and impartial manner.
For the 2018/19 financial reporting period, significant indicators mark a
decline in the number of matters dismissed by the Office with increases
noted in respect of the numbers of matters settled and the number of
matters that are referred to other Ombud offices. The number of matters
determined remain consistent with the previous financial reporting period.
For the 2018/19 financial reporting period a total amount of R 66 668
302 was awarded to consumers, as compared to R 60 889 786 during the
previous financial reporting period. This is reflective of consumers valuing
the service provided by the Office who are rewarded by approaching
the Office to access justice. For many there is unfortunately very limited
alternative means to access justice.
What is becoming more apparent is that despite the winds of change, and
the challenges experienced by the Office, progress is being made. The
Ombud and his staff managed to deliver on all their business goals.
I take this opportunity to thank the Ombud and his team of dedicated staff
for their hard work and perseverance.

Abel Sithole
Commissioner of the FSCA

Commissioner’s Report
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“Play to your strengths.
If you aren’t great at something,
do more of what you’re great at.”
- Jason Lemkin

Ombud’s
Operational Report
Change
A word from Naresh Tulsie

(Ombud with effect 1 May 2018)

The way I see it, the function of the Office is straightforward:
1. Promote Consumer protection;
2. Contribute to the integrity of the financial services industry, by;
-

resolving complaints in a manner that is impartial, expeditious, economical, accessible and, at all times, equitable.

We do both by looking at matters where a financial services provider and its consumer can’t resolve a problem themselves, we
can intervene to resolve the disagreement. Impartial and unbiased, we’ll get to the root of the problem – and try to reach a fair,
pragmatic answer that allows both sides to move on. If we are of the view that the financial services provider has acted fairly and
carried out its undertakings as contractually agreed to – or there’s been a misunderstanding – we’ll explain how things stand.
However, if a consumer has been treated unfairly, or a financial services provider has not acted as required by the terms of the
contractual arrangement entered into and/or complied with regulatory requirements, we will use our powers to make sure the
financial services provider makes things right.
That could involve anything from settling an insurance claim to adjudicating a complaint on a complex investment in a property
syndicate. As our statistics reveal, and on a daily basis, we see the impact of financial concerns and complaints on people from all
sorts of backgrounds. We’re committed to sharing our insights and experiences to encourage fairness and confidence in financial
services.
The implementation of Twin Peaks and the other regulatory changes, the evolving nature of the financial services industry, the
emergence of fintech, automated advice, increasingly knowledgeable consumers aware of their rights and much more inclined
to voice their displeasure at poor customer experiences identifies challenges, but also opportunities to evolve the manner of
complaints handling, utilise technology better, streamline processes, reduce turnaround times and thereby improve our overall
service offering. One of the key initiatives will be to reposition the Office so that it meets stakeholders’ expectations (consumers,
the financial services industry, the regulators, the media and other ombudsmans’ offices).
As the FAIS Ombud, I am cognisant of my responsibility to promote consumer protection and to
foster the integrity of the financial services industry by resolving complaints in a manner that is
impartial, expeditious, economical, accessible and, at all times, equitable. This can however only
be effectively achieved when all South Africans and consumers of financial services are aware
of this Office and the service we provide. It is therefore vital that in addition to executing upon
our mandate we engage all concerned to help both consumers and financial services providers
to understand their respective rights and responsibilities, the aim being to reduce the level of
complaints and improve confidence in the financial services industry through education.
The FAIS Ombud has during the 2018/2019 financial year made significant strides in the area of
consumer education and awareness. This includes numerous engagements with industry, various
industry bodies, the media and regulators. These engagements have allowed this Office to not
only increase awareness about who we are and the services we provide, but allowed us to better
collaborate with those in industry to facilitate the positive resolution of complaints to the benefit
of all parties involved.
Ombud’s Operational Report

“Our dilemma
is that we hate
change and love it
at the same time;
what we really
want is for things
to remain the
same but get
better.”
– Sydney J. Harris
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“The changes
at the FAIS
Ombud’s office
bear a strong
resemblance
to the current
drive for accepting
responsibility for
change…”

The theme of this year’s annual report is ‘Change’, and this is no more apparent than the introduction
of the Financial Sector Regulation Act 9 of 2017 which came into effect on 1 April 2018 and which
seeks to establish a system of financial regulation by establishing both a Prudential Authority and a
Financial Sector Conduct Authority, in what is now commonly referred to as the Twin Peaks model.
The implementation of this legislation has a significant impact on this going forward, and has already
introduced entities such as the Financial Services Tribunal (formerly the Financial Services Board
Appeals Board), that now offers all parties to a complaint the opportunity to have any decision made
by this Office reviewed. This means that this Office no longer reconsiders appeals made against
matters dismissed.
The changes have however not been restricted to the regulatory space, and in addition to the
introduction of myself as the new Ombud effective 1 May 2018, the Office physically relocated,
during October 2018, to Erasmuskloof. This Office has also effective March 2019 introduced a Client
Care Centre (this is discussed in more detail below.) to improve the level of service we provide to all
parties to a complaint. In terms of industry, developments like robo-advice, fintech, emergence of call
centres, and the like have required more than ever that there be greater and closer engagement with
the industry, as opposed to having a formalised approach, and this Office has changed many of its
internal processes to accommodate these developments. But do not take my word for it, in a recent
industry publication the following was highlighted:
Change is often a painful and messy process, but it is not possible to progress without change.
Socrates said that “the secret of change is to focus all of your energy, not on fighting the old, but on
building the new”. This obviously requires a change of attitude and the willingness to embrace the
challenges that come with change, something that this Office has endeavoured to do during this last
financial year.
As always, statutory mandate of the FAIS Ombud remains, however, to resolve and in this report,
we record the information necessary for assessing our achievement against our core function for
the financial year under review. Through the hard work and dedication of our staff this Office can
proudly announce that we have achieved all our strategic and business goals. (The full details of our
performance against the annual performance plan can be gleaned from pages 68 to 73 of this report).

Resolving complaints: When we report on our numbers, we report on two sets of complaints: the resolution of those complaints
received within the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, and the overall numbers which include complaints carried over from
previous financial years. During the 2018/2019 financial year this Office received 9323 complaints, which is lower than the
10211 complaints for the corresponding period during the 2017/2018 financial year. A total of 3684 of the 9323 complaints
were dismissed, a total of 2770 complaints were referred to alternative fora and 1209 complaints were settled in favour of the
complainant, which represents a significant increase over the 883 complaints for the 2017/2018 financial year, and a testament to
the efforts made to improve the service we provide.
The number of complaints received during the 2018/2019 period that were carried over was 1660 which was lower than last year’s
total and represented 82% of all complaints received. The number of justiciable complaints falling within the jurisdiction of this
Office received during the year under review was 5589 and represented 605 of all complaints received.
Overall, the total number of complaints resolved during the 2018/2019 financial year was 9954, which despite the lower number
of complaints received, compares favourably with the 10542 for the previous reporting period. The highlight however and the
product of the changes implemented within the Case Management area was the increase in the number of complaints settled
which rose from 1392 during 2017/2018 to 1871, an increase of 34%. In addition to this we can also report that for the first time
this Office’s settlement ratio for justiciable complaints reached 30%, which compares favourably with industry standards. This in
turn saw the settlement value increased from R60,889,786 during 2017/2018 to R66,668,302 during the 2018/2019 financial year,
an increase of 9.5%.
Often the efforts of this Office are misinterpreted as inadequate as a result of the increased number of dismissals. Not only do
those numbers support this Office’s commitment to fairness and impartiality in the investigation of complaints, but there is
significant due diligence that is undertaken both during and at the completion of an investigation before a matter is dismissed.
Furthermore, this Office is required by law to provide detailed reasons for any decision made inclusive of complaints dismissed,
and as mentioned above, all who feel aggrieved by decisions taken by this Office can approach the Financial Services Tribunal.
During the 2018/2019 financial year a total of 154 applications were made to the Financial Services Tribunal, and of the 146
matters decided upon as at 31 March 2019, 141 of those applications had been dismissed with only 5 being referred back to this
Office for further investigation, a success rate of 96%.
In respect of referrals where a total of 2770 complaints were referred to other fora, this Office remains committed to ensuring that
even where we are unable to be of assistance, that any person who refers a matter to this Office, is assured that the complaint will
be carefully considered and that where required they shall be referred to the correct forum to receive the assistance required. All
this is part of our continued commitment to enhancing access to justice for all South Africans.
Determinations: Despite the efforts of this Office to resolve complaints informally there are complaints that require a formal
resolution by way of a determination, as illustrated by the complaints outlined in the sections that follow.
8

FAIS OMBUD ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019

Mr B Nxumalo vs Coler Financial Services Providers
The complaint arose from the loss incurred by the complainant
as a result of the respondent’s failure to ensure that the
complainant’s vehicle, which was utilised in the service of the
complainant’s courier business, was appropriately insured.
In the determination, this Office highlighted the role of the
advisor in this instance being an agent of the complainant, a
relationship governed by the law of agency. The determination
highlighted applicable case law which details the obligations
and duties of an advisor to exercise reasonable care to ensure
that an insured is appropriately covered, obligations and
duties which are to a large extent ‘codified’ in the General
Code of Conduct for Authorised Financial Services Providers
and Representatives (‘the Code’).
The complainant, self-employed as a courier, purchased a 2011
Toyota Hilux 2.5d 4D P/U S/U on 23 July 2013. The vehicle had
been purchased with the intention of being used as a courier
vehicle and had been fitted with what is described as a ‘High
Volume Canopy’, or ‘Courier Canopy’. The complainant was
assisted by the respondent to source insurance for the vehicle,
which was subsequently secured with RENASA Insurance
Company Limited (‘RENASA’).
On 30 July 2015 the vehicle was stolen and the complainant
subsequently submitted a claim which was rejected by RENASA,
the reason being that at the time of the loss the vehicle had
been insured on a personal lines policy. Furthermore, the
use of the vehicle had been captured as business use, when
the vehicle had clearly been used for commercial purposes.
RENASA referred the complainant to the relevant sections of
the ‘Domestic Policy’ which specifically excluded this vehicle
from cover.
The complainant was disappointed by the outcome of the
claim, as he claimed to have specifically disclosed to the
respondent that the vehicle would be used as a courier vehicle.
He had been under the impression that the respondent had
adequately provided for this vehicle after having insured it for
business use. The complainant claimed to have never been
informed that he required a commercial insurance policy.
Despite numerous attempts made by this Office to resolve the
matter, the respondent failed to appreciate that the personal
lines policy or domestic policy from the insurer was not
appropriate to the complainant’s needs and circumstances
and that an application in respect of a commercial lines
policy ought to have been recommended to have adequately
addressed the purposes for which the vehicle would be used.
The gist of this Office’s findings against respondent can be
summarised as the respondent having failed in its duty to
ensure that the complainant was adequately insured. This is
supported by the fact that the respondent failed to comply with
the provisions of the Code that require that a Financial Services
Provider obtain all relevant and available information from the
prospective client so that, after an analysis is conducted, a
recommendation can be made that is appropriate in terms of
the complainant’s needs and circumstances.

Ombud’s Operational Report

Had the respondent in fact complied with this section, it would
have been in a position to recommend to the complainant that
a commercial lines policy would have been the appropriate
option, considering the purpose for which the vehicle would
be used. Instead, the respondent resorted to placing the
complainant in a personal lines policy, with the class of use
specified as business use. The complainant, a layperson, was
simply required to answer a question of whether the vehicle
would be used for ‘private use’ or ‘business use’, without the
respondent ever seeking to fully understand and appreciate
the complainant’s circumstances. Had the respondent
complied with its duties in terms of the Code, the complainant
would have been placed in a position to make an informed
decision as to the cover option that was appropriate to his
needs and circumstances.
It was evident that the respondent had no understanding or
appreciation of the insurer’s product offerings, let alone the
option that was appropriate to the complainant’s needs and
circumstances. The respondent as a result failed to conduct
the financial service in accordance with the required due skill,
care and diligence. The respondent furthermore failed to show
compliance with the Code in respect of maintaining a record
of advice indicating that a needs analysis was conducted
and detailing why the product ultimately recommended was
appropriate for the complainant’s needs and circumstances.
The consideration of documents such as a needs analysis and a
record of advice are key to determining whether a provider has
not only complied with the provisions of the Code, but that the
provider discharged his or her duty of care towards the client.
The respondent, however, neglected to obtain all relevant
and available information to ensure that the recommendation
was appropriate to the complainant’s needs,an aspect that
was highlighted by the respondent’s failure to maintain the
appropriate records as required by the Code.
By the respondent’s own admission, it had assessed the shortterm insurance need of the complainant. However, upon
completion of the ‘Domestic’ proposal form it had only been
provided with two options by the product provider with regards
to the use of the vehicle, that being private and business use,
and based on these ‘limited’ (own emphasis) options, selected
business use. In respondent’s own words, “There is no official
section to choose commercial use as an option.” By proceeding
with the proposal despite there being no option that satisfied
the complainant’s needs, the respondent acted negligently
and the damage to the complainant was not only foreseeable
but inevitable.
There was no doubt that the respondent’s negligence in failing
to firstly demonstrate that it had assessed the financial needs
of the complainant, and secondly to adequately advise the
complainant as to the appropriate policy cover to meet his
needs, are the reasons for the loss suffered by the complainant,
and that the respondent’s conduct flouted the very contract it
had with the complainant and the requirements of the FAIS
General Code of Conduct. The respondent was ordered to pay
the complainant an amount of R144,590.
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Martha Magdeline Maarman vs Buys Burial Society
This determination is the first complaint that was received and
determined by this Office within a period of nine months and
most notably within the same financial year, further evidence
of this Office’s ongoing commitment to resolve complaints in
accordance with our mandate in an expeditious manner, whilst
also ensuring that the investigation is conducted procedurally
fairly, informally and economically, with due regard for what is
equitable in all circumstances.
The complainant in this matter lodged a complaint with this
Office following the respondent’s failure to honour a valid
claim submitted in respect of a funeral policy for its member,
the late Mrs Magogodi Elizabeth Maarman (the deceased). The
deceased passed away on 12 June 2016 and the complainant
duly registered a claim with the burial society. The claim was
however rejected on the grounds that the policy had lapsed,
owing to one premium not being paid. The complainant
disputed that the premium had not been paid, and claimed
that the person who collects the premium on behalf of the
society did receive the money, but failed to provide a receipt.
Despite meetings and the submission of further documentation
to the respondent, the claim was never paid out to the
complainant. However, Metropolitan, the underwriter,
confirmed that it received a claim from the burial society,
and an amount of R13,462.56 was paid to the respondent on
19 August 2016, which is the amount of R15,000 less arrears
premiums. Metropolitan stated that the respondent was
advised to pay the money to the complainant. The respondent
however maintained that he would do so upon receipt of
proof of payment of premiums. Whilst the respondent had
been unduly enriched, the complainant had not received any
payment to recover the costs she incurred in respect of the
funeral.
According to documentation made available to the Office, Buys
Burial Society forms part of a group scheme funeral policy
named “Peace of Mind Group Scheme Funeral Policy”, and is
underwritten by Metropolitan, a division of MMI Group Ltd,
an authorised financial services provider and registered credit
provider, licence number 44673. Metropolitan confirmed that
a contract exists between itself and the burial society, and in
accordance with the terms and conditions, any claim proceeds
are payable to the burial society. This Office could however
find no evidence that the respondent had ever been licensed
in terms of the FAIS Act, or that a valid underwriting agreement
existed to ensure the solvency of the fund.
Section 7 (1) of the Long-Term Insurance Act provides that
registration is required in order to carry out long-term
insurance business. There is no evidence on file that the
respondent complied with this requirement. Furthermore,
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the respondent collected premiums from the complainant,
but failed to honour the claim when it arose; even when he
received payment for the claim he submitted to Metropolitan.
The respondent has therefore been unduly enriched. The
respondent was at risk and was liable to pay the complainant
in terms of the policy, less any outstanding premiums.
The respondent showed no willingness to resolve the matter,
despite various attempts to solicit a reply. Apart from disputing
the receipt of one premium, the respondent had provided no
other reasons why the money he received from Metropolitan
was is not due and payable to the complainant.
The respondents were in contravention of Section 2 of the
FAIS Act which provides as follows:
“A provider must at all times render financial services
honestly, fairly, with due skill, care and diligence, and in the
interests of clients and the integrity of the financial services
industry.”
The respondent’s continued failure to respond to the
complaint, or the complainant’s pleas for payment in terms
of the policy, led to the conclusion that the respondent never
had the intention to respond to the claim or to conduct any
legitimate business of an FSP. This Office therefore found in
favour of the complainant and ordered the respondent to pay
the amount of R13,462.52 to the complainant.
In addition to the ruling by this Office, Metropolitan, the
entity that underwrote the scheme, had advised this that the
respondent was exempted from the provisions of the FAIS
Act, in accordance with Board Notice 43 of 2013, which deals
with burial societies and stokvels. Despite this response from
Metropolitan to enquiries by this Office as to why it conducted
business with an unlicensed entity, the arrangement was
deemed questionable by this Office, as the clients of the
respective schemes underwritten by Metropolitan enjoyed no
protection. Money claimed by the burial society was paid to
them directly, without any consideration by Metropolitan as
to whether the claimants received the benefits to which they
are entitled. Furthermore, the respondent would appear to fall
short in terms of the definition of a burial society in terms of
the board notice, and would appear to satisfy this requirement
in name only.
The matter was escalated to the Financial Sector Conduct
Authority for further investigation. This was in accordance with
this Office’s commitment to carrying out its duty as provided
for in terms of Section 217(1), (2) & (3) of the Financial Sector
Regulations Act 9 of 2017, that as a statutory ombud scheme
we report on the trends in and the implications of the conduct
of financial institutions observed during the investigation of
complaints to the FSCA.
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Jacobus Frederick Roux T/A Grande Roux Stud & Feeds vs
Top Life Financial Services CC
This determination is another example of a complaint that was
received and determined by this Office within a period of nine
months.
The complainant is Mr. Jacobus Frederik Roux, an adult male,
whose full details are on file with this Office lodged a complaint
against Top Life Financial Services, a close corporation duly
incorporated in terms of South African law, with registration
number 2010/149091/23 (hereinafter the respondent). The
aforesaid company is an authorised Financial Services Provider
with licence number 48089.
The complaint arose from the loss incurred by the complainant
as a result of the respondent’s failure to ensure that the
complainant’s agriculture policy, which was utilised in the
service of the complainant’s business of breeding horses
and the supply of grass feeds, was appropriately insured. In
the determination, the Ombud highlighted the role of the
advisor in this instance being an agent of the complainant, a
relationship governed by the law of agency. The determination
highlighted applicable case law which details the obligations
and duties of an advisor to exercise reasonable care to ensure
that an insured is appropriately covered, obligations and duties
which are encapsulated in the Code of Conduct.
The complainant, self-employed in the business of farming,
and who operated a stud farm, where his core business is the
breeding of horses and the supply of grass feeds, met with the
respondent during April 2016. In reference to the agriculture
policy held by the complainant, the respondent advised the
complainant to add a policy on the life of his 10 horses. In the
circumstances, the complaint specifically indicated that the
aforesaid horses should be covered for breeding purposes.
Subsequent to the meeting, the complainant was provided
with a quotation via e-mail by the respondent, which, amongst
others, confirmed that each horse would be covered for
R200,000. The complainant duly accepted the cover.
On 8 September 2017, a pregnant mare suffered a uterine
artery complication, and euthanasia was performed on
humane grounds. The complainant submitted a claim to the
respondent for the death of the mare. Following submission
of the necessary veterinary reports, the claim was rejected
on the basis that the loss did not fall within the ambit of the
policy. The respondent advised that the complainant held an
agricultural policy, in terms of which cover is only provided
for the death of an insured animal caused by fire, lightning or
explosion. The policy held by the complainant did not provide
“life insurance” on his horses. The policy was one of shortterm insurance and was based on pre-determined perils.
The complainant was aggrieved with the outcome, as he
claimed to have specifically instructed the respondent
to provide life cover his horses. He had been under the
impression that the respondent had adequately provided for
this cover after having insured the horses for business use. The
complainant claimed to have never been informed that the
insurer did not provide cover on the life of the animals and
that it only provided short term insurance cover.
Despite numerous attempts made by this Office to resolve
the matter, the respondent failed to appreciate that the
recommended policy was not appropriate to the complainant’s
needs and circumstances. The respondent should have made
Ombud’s Operational Report

provision for a mortality policy for the horses instead of having
insured the horses as stock in terms of an agricultural policy,
which would have adequately addressed the complainant’s
needs and circumstances.
The gist of the Ombud’s findings against the respondent can
be summarised as the respondent having failed in his duty
to ensure that the complainant was adequately insured.
This is evinced by the fact that there was no question that a
contractual relationship to render financial advice existed
between the complainant and the respondent. In discharging
these obligations towards the complainant, the respondent
was duty bound to observe the FAIS Act and the Code and
align the standard of such service to the Code. Furthermore,
it wasclear that the respondent failed to comply with the
provisions of the Code that require a Financial Services
Provider, after having obtained all relevant and available
information, to make a recommendation that is appropriate in
terms of the complainant’s needs and circumstances.
Had the respondent in fact complied with this section, it would
have been in a position to recommend to the complainant
that a mortality policy would have been the appropriate
option, considering the purpose for which cover was required.
Instead, the respondent resorted to placing the complainant
in a short-term insurance policy, which was based on predetermined perils. More importantly, the respondent was
unable to recommend a suitable product, as he did not have
the required expertise and/or access to suitable cover, cover
that this Office has determined is available through specialised
FSPs. The respondent ought to have, in the interests of the
complainant, informed the complainant accordingly and
recommended to him that he seek specialised advice in that
regard.
The respondent was out of his depth and as a result failed to
conduct the financial service in accordance with the required
due skill, care and diligence as provided for in section 2 of the
Code. Section 9 of the Code, read in conjunction with section
3 (2) requires that a provider must maintain and keep a record
of the advice furnished to a client. This record must reflect
the basis on which the advice was given, a brief summary of
the information and material on which the advice was based,
the financial products considered and the financial product
ultimately recommended, together with an explanation of why
the product selected is likely to satisfy the client’s identified
needs. The respondent had failed to provide this Office with
documentation showing compliance with section 9 of the
Code. The aforesaid documentation is relevant in determining
whether the provider has complied with the provisions of the
Code and discharged his duty of care towards the client.
This aspect is of paramount importance, as this Office is often
accused by FSPs that we are finding against them as a result
of poor, inadequate or non-existent record keeping, when in
fact the real issue is that from the facts provided the advice
would appear to be deficient and not in keeping with the FSP’s
duty to ensure that the advice provided was appropriate to the
needs of the client or that the client was placed in a position
to make an informed decision. The failure to comply with the
requirements in terms of record keeping simply prevents the
FSP from assisting this Office in making any other conclusion.
The Ombud found that the respondent acted contrary to his
duties as required in terms of the Code. The respondent was
ordered to pay the complainant an amount of R180,000.
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Trends
Robo-Advice

Banking Complaints

The emergence of Fintech and the provision of financial
services via online platforms, commonly referred to as roboadvice has seen this Office receive complaints from consumers
of financial services providers dissatisfied with the solutions
provided. Solutions, which they assumed provided specific
benefits and cover, but would then appear to fall to fall short
of what was required or expectedissues which more often
than not only reveal themselves in the event of a claim.

Specifically, complaints surrounding the failure by banks to
provide assistance to clients who are the victims of fraud. The
banking institutions remain of the view that should any alleged
fraudulent act occur as a result of the complainant’s personal
details being compromised instead of their safeguards having
been breached then they are not liable for any losses incurred.
This Office has however approached these institutions in a
number of matters, an example is provided in the settlements
detailed later in this report, where we have requested that in
the interests of treating customers fairly that they utilise their
significant resources to at least provide assistance to their
clients that may assist in any further investigations that will
see the complainant receive justice.

Regardless of whether the transaction was concluded solely
by the complainant via an online platform, or whether utilised
in conjunction with a financial service provider (‘FSP’), there is
still a requirement that any robo-advice solutions conforms to
the provisions of the General Code of Conduct for Authorised
Financial Services Providers and Representatives (‘the Code’)
be complied with and that the required disclosures be made
to ensure that the prospective client is placed in a position to
make an informed decision as to whether the specific solution
meets his/her financial needs and circumstances.
From the complaints received to date, which would appear
to be steadily increasing, this Office has been successful in
bringing about positive resolutions by focusing specifically on
the nature and extent of the disclosures provided by these
online solutions and whether the complainant had been able
to appreciate the implications of the selections being made
and whether those disclosures had been sufficient to have
allowed the complainant the opportunity to make an informed
decision.
Forex Investments
There has been an increase in forex investment complaints,
where consumers of financial services are lured by the
prospects of making what is purported to be quick and easy
profits. Whether this is as a result of the current economic
climate or as a result of more and more individuals having
access to the various social media platforms, there would
appear to be a growing trend of individuals investing in forex
platforms after having been enticed by social media posts on,
for example, Facebook and Twitter. These more often than not
turn out to be scams and the funds are ultimately lost.
There is also a growing trend of what is referred to a ‘Copy
Cat’ forex traders. These are individuals and/or entities that
are not registered FSPs in accordance with the FAIS Act and
who provide prospective clients the ‘opportunity’ to copy
their trades for an agreed upon fee. These entities are not
concerned as to whether forex is suitable to the clients’
needs and circumstances, but also take no responsibility for
any losses incurred, losses that invariably occur without any
substantial explanation or justification.
Finally, there are those entities that in an attempt to circumvent
the FAIS Act and its corresponding legislation entice clients by
offering forex training software, with the promise of turning
one into a forex trader. Subsequent to the conclusion of the
transaction, the client is then offered broker services by the
entity which is then that losses are incurred that are not
explained or substantiated.
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Crypto-currency Complaints
This Office is starting to receive on an increasing basis
complaints related to investments into such currencies,
primarily Bitcoin, where these currencies are being marketed
as mainstream investment solutions, and in some instances the
performance is even guaranteed. No disclosure is made that
these products are unregulated or what the risks associated
with these investments are, and the implications that these
have on the complainant’s investment. Investigations into a
few matters are at an advanced stage, and this Office is looking
to issue its first determination on this type of investment early
in the 2019/2020 financial year.
Replacement Policies
There has been an increase in complaints surrounding the
replacement of existing policies, specifically long- and shortterm insurance policies. This too may be systemic of the
economic climate but this Office has noted that more and
more policies are being replaced in favour of a more affordable
policy, which may provide temporary relief on a monthly basis,
but often comes with reduced benefits or higher excesses
that are often only discovered in the event of a claim. Whilst
the Code does provide for FSPs to specifically disclose to
a prospective client the implications and consequences
associated with a replacement, and to maintain a record of
such disclosures having been made, the records provided to
this Office fall short of what would be required for one to have
made an informed decision as to the appropriateness of the
replacement policy.
It is also noted that the updated Policy Holder Protection Rules
do now provide greater protection to consumers, by placing
a greater responsibility on the product providers themselves
to ensure that such transactions and in fact the conduct of
those intermediaries who market their products and services
are in keeping with what is in the client’s best interests.
This is an aspect that this Office has been emphasising in
complaints related to specifically the replacement of existing
policies, where product providers can no longer place the sole
responsibility and blame on the intermediary who rendered
the financial service.
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Consumer education and Stakeholder relations
“Education is the passport to the future,
for tomorrow belongs to those
who prepare for it today”
– Malcolm X
One of the functions of the Office of the FAIS Ombud during
the course of the complaints investigation process is that the
Office observes trends and identifies problem areas. It would
be of no value if these learnings are not brought back to the
consumers and industry alike. It is important to help both
consumers and financial services providers understand their
respective rights and responsibilities. By doing this, the level
of complaints can be reduced and confidence improved in the
financial services industry through education.
The Office of the FAIS Ombud has made great strides in
improving its outreach to consumers and other related
stakeholders.
One such initiative was the Money Smart Week South Africa
Campaign (MSWSA), in which the Office of the FAIS Ombud
participated. This is an educational awareness platform
involving financial institutions, companies, schools and
communities, aimed at improving financial literacy in the
country.
Various activities were coordinated within communities,
where consumers could discuss their financial situations and
seek help. The key messages of the MSWSA were as follows:
• Financial education is accessible and readily available
• Qualified professionals exist to provide informed financial
advice
• Controlling one’s financial situation is important for the
future

Ombud’s Operational Report

Another successful outreach was the consumer drive at
Pavilion Mall in Durban, where the Office managed to reach
approximately 250 prospective complainants.
The Office participated in various radio interviews, reaching
people from different walks of life. We learned from these
interactions that many consumers do not know about the
existence of the Office, or that we can provide them with a
free service to resolve complaints against financial services
providers.
The Office has also significantly increased its footprint in the
media, where the industry and consumers can access press
releases on important determinations and other decisions
made in the Office. Internally, the quarterly newsletter
has received a facelift, where we share experiences with
consumers and the industry.
The relationships the Office has with its stakeholders are
equally important. The Ombud holds the view that constant
collaboration and open discussions to resolve complaints, are
better than an adversarial approach. To this extent, the Office
addressed financial service providers in various fora, providing
training and insight on the FAIS Act and the General Code of
Conduct.
The type and number of interactions are highlighted in the
performance information report on page 73.
Education and relationship building is an ongoing exercise,
one which the Office of the FAIS Ombud is keen to expand on
during the next financial year.

Naresh S Tulsie
Ombud for Financial Services Providers
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Settlements
2018 | 2019

The Office of the FAIS Ombud is committed to resolving
complaints in a procedurally fair, informal, economical and
expeditious manner, with reference to what is equitable in all
circumstances. In this vein the FAIS Ombud always explores
every available avenue to resolve a complaint between the
parties on an informal basis without the need to formally
resolve the matter by way of a determination.

GvS
The complainant, Mr G, had applied for a short-term insurance
policy on the recommendation of the respondent during
1997. The transaction that led to the conclusion of the
short-term insurance policy had been conducted during the
complainant’s bond application. Subsequent to the inception
of the policy, during 2013, Mr G had constructed an outdoor
pizza oven, which unfortunately led to a fire breaking out
on 13 December 2014. The fire destroyed the family’s home
and the claim submitted was subsequently rejected after the
appointed assessor discovered that the pizza oven had not
been built according to standard building practices in terms of
space heating and that the pizza oven flue had been installed
too close to the wooden rafters. This resulted in charring
and igniting which led to the fire. The claim, in the amount
of R1,495,040, was rejected on the basis of the following
exclusions:
• Change of Risk – The complainant needed to have
informed the insurer within 30 days about any change in
circumstances that could affect the risk of loss, damage
etc. as well as any extensions or alterations to the building
structure.
• Defects – In the design, materials or construction.
• Construction Type – Loss or damage is not covered if
insured property does not comply with National Building
Regulations or legislation applicable at the time.
Upon receipt of the complaint and after having provided
the respondent with the opportunity to respond to the
complaint, this Office was informed by the respondent that
this transaction, the provision of a short-term insurance policy,
was precluded from the provision of advice. The respondent
was of the view that the only requirement was that the
representative, in this case the attorneys handling the transfer,
needed to provide the complainant with factual information.
This together with the fact that the complainant had been sent
a policy document detailing all terms and conditions was seen
by the respondent as sufficient to satisfy its duty of disclosure
in terms of the General Code of Conduct. This Office however
made it clear that it is of the view that the provision of financial
service and or a financial product cannot be made in isolation
of advice, or a determination by the Financial Services Provider
as to the appropriateness of the recommended product to
the client’s needs and circumstances. This Office was also
of the view that even if we were to accept the respondent’s
response, then it still had a duty to have complied with the
provisions of the General Code of Conduct for Authorised
Financial Services Providers and Representatives (‘the Code’)
and to have provided concise details of any and all material
terms of the contract, specifically dealing with any exclusions,
limitations on cover or instances in which cover will not be
provided.
14

The mere provision of policy documents and policy schedules
subsequent to the rendering of a financial service does not
negate the FSPs responsibility to make disclosures with
regards to exclusions specifically dealing with issues such
as the need to adequately maintain one’s property, or what
the requirements are should the client at any stage make
alterations or extensions to the building or property, as was
the case in this complaint. The fact that this important aspect
was ‘outsourced’ to the lawyers responsible for conducting
the transfer and that the respondent had relied on the fact
that the complainant was sent a copy of the policy terms
and conditions further illustrated the respondent’s failure to
exercise its duty of care.
An additional argument put forward by the respondent
included reference to the fact that the policy had incepted
during 1997, which was prior to the inception of this Office
on 30 September 2004, and as a result the transaction and
any advice rendered fell outside of our jurisdiction. This Office
was of the view that the introduction of the FAIS Act and its
corresponding Code of Conduct placed a duty on Financial
Services Providers such as the respondent to ensure that the
required disclosures were made, regardless of when the policy
incepted. This is all the more relevant when one considers
that short-term insurance policies are annually renewable and
yet the respondent was unable to provide any record that an
annual review had been undertaken since the commencement
of the FAIS Act during 2004, this despite continuing to receive
an advisory fee on a regular basis.
It was put to the respondent that had annual renewals indeed
taken place, which would have considered whether the policy
still catered for the complainant’s needs, then the addition
of the pizza oven would have been brought to the broker’s
attention, who would have been in a position to have made
the required disclosures to have ensured that the complainant
was placed in a position to make an informed decision, as to
the need to have the building work adequately certified, and
may even have prevented the loss from occurring altogether.
After having numerous interactions with the respondent, it
made a decision to present the complainant with an offer of
R800,000, which represented this Office’s jurisdictional limit.
Whilst the complainant’s losses exceeded this value, he made
the decision to accept the offer, which is the maximum amount
that this Office could facilitate. (This Office has however made
submissions for the increase in the jurisdictional limit, which
has remained unchanged since the inception of the FAIS Act
during 2002.)
Whilst the respondent’s reliance on this Office’s jurisdiction
to limit its liability in this matter makes the resolution of this
FAIS OMBUD ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019

complaint bitter sweet, it is nevertheless encouraging to
receive feedback from the complainant, who we shall allow to
have the last word:

“Finding someone willing to listen and help when you feel
powerless has value far greater that what you may ever realise.
Thank you for that.”
“Thank you for the hope you gave us.”

MvF
The complainant (aged 45) claimed that during August 2015,
she met with the respondent’s representative to discuss the
options available to invest an amount of R277,000, which she
inherited from her late husband. The primary objective was for
the funds to be invested for growth, and to generate a monthly
income. She was informed that she would receive a monthly
income of R3000 from the investment, which is exactly what
she received from the inception of the investment during
September 2015, up to January 2016, when the income
suddenly ceased.
The complainant attempted to get answers as to why
the income had stopped, however, the respondent’s
representative informed her that she was not able to contact
the product provider and in fact, was not even accredited to
market the product in the first place. The complainant had not
been aware that the representative sold her a product that
she was not authorised to sell by the respondent. As she had
met with the representative at the respondent’s office, she
had been under the impression that she would be provided
with a product endorsed by the respondent. The complainant
approached this Office seeking for the respondent to refund
her initial capital.
The complaint was referred to the respondent to allow it to
respond to the allegations raised. The respondent claims
that the complainant had required a flexible investment
that would allow for future ad-hoc investments, and that
she had been presented with two options in an attempt to
meet those needs. The respondent furthermore stated that
its investigation indicated that the complainant had invested
R100,000 in one of the options provided, and that it could
not find any documentation showing that the investment

at the centre of the complaint had been presented to the
complainant. The respondent was also of the view that even if
she had been provided with the alleged investment, she ought
to have known that it was not accredited by the respondent.
This view was supported by the fact that the complainant had
signed its Statutory Disclosure Notice that clearly reflected
that the product providers that were indeed accredited. As the
entity was not listed as an accredited product provider, the
respondent was unwilling to accept any liability.
This Office responded that the essence of the complaint was that
when rendering advice to the complainant, the respondent’s
representative had presented a range of financial products,
including the disputed product to the complainant, without
ever specifically bringing it to the complainant’s attention
that the product was not authorised by the respondent. The
complainant was simply allowed to labour under the false
impression that it was just one of a range of products offered by
the respondent. This Office was further of the view that as the
transaction was conducted in the respondent’s offices whilst
the representative, an employee, was on duty, it had the effect
of lending a further layer of authenticity to the transaction. This
Office was also satisfied that the facts as presented satisfied
the test for vicarious liability in that the wrongful act was
committed by an employee while acting in the course and scope
of her employment, thereby creating a causal link between the
conduct of the employee and the employer.
A recommendation was made that the matter be resolved
with the complainant. The respondent subsequently accepted
the recommendation and offered to settle the matter in the
amount of R313,722.63, an offer that was accepted by the
complainant.

SvM
The complainant applied for a comprehensive motor vehicle
insurance policy with the respondent for his 2012 VW Polo
Comfortline. The inception date of the policy was 1 February
2015, and the monthly premium payable was R1500. The
complainant claimed that on 5 March 2018, his vehicle was
involved in an accident which damaged the sunroof. The
complainant subsequently submitted a claim which was
rejected, as it was claimed that the sunroof was not covered.
The respondent informed the complainant that he ought to
have sought additional cover for the sunroof as it was not a
standard feature of the vehicle. The complainant claims that
at application stage he was informed that he had to take
out additional cover only if the sunroof was not fitted by the
manufacturer. Therefore, had he been correctly advised, he
would have known to apply for the additional cover.

with the General Code of Conduct, that the respondent’s
representative sought to obtain all relevant and available
information to ensure that the recommendation made would
be appropriate to the complainant’s needs and circumstances.
It was furthermore put to the respondent that compliance
with this section of the Code was required to have ensured
that its representative would have been in a position to
provide concise details with regards to the need to have the
sunroof specifically insured, thereby placing the complainant
in a position to make an informed decision.
In response to the correspondence from this Office, the
respondent reconsidered its stance and settled the matter to
the satisfaction of the complainant with an offer of R49,903.26
in full and final settlement.

Correspondence was directed to the respondent where this
Office requested that it provide documentation in compliance
Settlements 2018 | 2019
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DM v S
The complainant was employed as a teacher, a position
she had resigned from during March 2017 at the age of 51.
Subsequent to her resignation, the complainant applied to exit
the Government Employee Pension Fund (‘GEPF’), and was
paid her pension interest of R1,200,000. The complainant, on
1 September 2017, approached the respondent, seeking to
invest an amount of R300 000. The remainder of the funds were
utilised to pay off her debts. The respondent recommended an
endowment policy.
Shortly after having made the investment, the complainant
withdrew an amount of R85,000. Thereafter, she applied for
what she had been led to believe was a loan against the policy
in the amount of R60,000 during December 2017. When the
complainant required further access to the funds, she was
advised that she was now unable to access the remainder
of the funds until the completion of the 5-year period. The
complainant claimed that she had expressly instructed the
respondent to ensure that she would have access to her funds
at any time, and that she had not been made aware of any

restrictions applicable on the policy. The complainant had
children at University, and had to pay for their tuition and
transport fees. This information had been disclosed to the
respondent at the inception of the policy.
Upon receipt of the complaint, this Office directed
correspondence to the respondent where the respondent was
requested to respond to the allegations that the complainant
was not informed about the limitations prevalent to an
endowment policy. The respondent was also requested to
provide documentation demonstrating why an investment
into an endowment policy was appropriate to the needs and
circumstances of the complainant, taking into account her age
and the fact that she may require access to the funds in the
event of an emergency, or as was the case, should she need to
fund her children’s tertiary education needs. The respondent
subsequently took the decision to release the remaining funds
to the complainant without any charges or penalties, and an
amount of R133,631.66 was paid to the complainant.

E v RB
The complainant was a business owner who held commercial
and personal lines policies, including cover for a caravan and
its contents. The complainant claimed that during September
2012, he was approached by the respondent to review and take
over his insurance business, and the complainant duly provided
him with all his policy schedules. As a result, the complainant’s
personal and commercial polices were consolidated into one;
however, the caravan contents were not included in the new
cover. During August 2014, the complainant submitted a claim
after the theft of contents from his caravan. The claim was
rejected on the basis that the contents of the caravan was
excluded from cover in respect of the All Risk benefit.
In its response to the complaint, the respondent claimed that
the policy had simply been moved from the previous policy,
on the same basis, and that the previous policy had not
provided any cover in respect of the caravan contents. The
respondent was therefore of the view that the fault lay with
the original advice provided to the complainant by his former
broker. The respondent was of the view that it had adhered
to the complainant’s request that the policy be transferred to
the new insurer on the same basis. The complainant was not

16

satisfied with this explanation and approached this Office to
recoup losses in the amount of R40,000.
In initial responses to this Office, the respondent remained of
the view that it simply transferred the policy “as is” from the
previous insurer to the new policy, and that this was done in
accordance with the instructions of the complainant. The fault
in its view, lay with the previous broker for not having provided
the complainant with cover in respect of the caravan’s
contents. This Office however held the view that upon taking
over the complainant’s insurance portfolio, there was a duty
on the respondent to conduct an analysis of the policy, as well
as of the complainant’s needs and circumstances, to ensure
that the policy remained appropriate. The respondent, who
was receiving commission from the policy facilitated for the
complainant, could not simply transfer the policy without
ensuring that it remained appropriate to the needs of the
complainant. After numerous interactions with the respondent
that saw the matter escalate to a formal investigation, the
respondent made an offer to settle the matter with the
complainant. An amount of R25,000 was paid in full and final
settlement.
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M v SB
During 2015, the complainant applied for a homeowner’s
insurance policy upon the successful application for a home
loan. The policy was facilitated by the respondent. During
November 2017, the complainant’s house was burgled and
the complainant submitted a claim. The claim was rejected
by the respondent on the basis that the house had been
unoccupied for a period in excess of 30 days at the time of
the loss. The complainant claimed that the house had indeed
been unoccupied at the time, as she had been in the process of
selling the house, however she had never been informed that
any potential claim would have been affected by the house
being unoccupied. Had she known, she would have taken
appropriate measures.
The respondent in its response to this Office claimed that
in facilitating this policy, it had not provided advice to the
complainant and that the policy had been provided based
on features and benefits. As a result, there had been no
duty to provide advice. This Office rejected the respondent’s
submission that there was no need to provide advice. Not only

was there a duty on the respondent to ensure that all relevant
and available information had been obtained to ensure the
appropriateness of the product ultimately recommended, but
also that all material terms of the policy, inclusive of instances
in which cover would not be provided, ought to have been
disclosed to the complainant to ensure that she was able to
make an informed decision. Even if this Office were to accept
the respondent’s claims that it had no duty to provide advice,
the features and benefits presented to the complainant made
no mention of this specific exclusion. Having been unaware of
the requirement that the building may not be unoccupied for a
period in excess of 30 days, the complainant had been unable
to comply with the policy’s terms and conditions; a situation
that was attributable to the respondent’s failure to make the
required disclosures.
The respondent ultimately resolved the matter with the
respondent and an amount of R165,254.12 was paid in full and
final settlement.

S v AMI
The complainant was the owner and the policyholder of
an Asterio Medical Insurance policy, which commenced
on 1 December 2015. This policy, which covered both the
complainant and her husband, provided benefits for emergency
medical services, Illness and dread disease. On 30 November
2017, the complainant’s husband complained of stomach pains
which led him to contact the respondent for authorisation. On
02 December 2017, the complainant’s husband underwent
a gastroscopy which led to him being admitted to hospital.
Preauthorisation was requested and declined on the basis that
in terms of the policy wording, illness means the onset of any
acute somatic, unforeseeable, unpredictable illness (excluding
mental illness) which requires admission to hospital, and which
was not a pre-existing condition. The complainant stated that
she was never advised about this exclusion of cover, and
wanted the respondent to resolve the matter in respect of the
outstanding medical expenses.

Code of Conduct in respect of disclosures of material terms
of the policy were explained, the respondent argued that the
sale of this policy was done online via the Asterio website. The
complainant, it claimed, therefore completed the documents
on her own, and the application was submitted without any
advice having been provided. This Office was of the view
that this transaction which amounted to robo-advice did not
absolve the respondent from ensuring that the complainant
was made aware of the material aspects of the policy in
order for her to be able to make an informed decision. The
respondent was requested to provide this Office with details
of the process followed when one applies online, what
disclosures are made and what information is provided to
prospective clients in respect of the exclusions applicable to
the policy. The respondent did not respond to the requests
from this Office. Instead, it took the decision to settle the
matter with the complainant and an amount of R7,829 was
paid in full and final settlement of the claim.

After entering into correspondence with the respondent
where the respondent’s duties to comply with the General
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The measure of intelligence
is the ability to change”
- Albert Einstein

Statistics

for the year ending 31 March 2019
Cases received

+

40%
Non FAIS

60%

=

100%

Justiciable

Number: 3 734

Quantum
settled/
determined
R 66 668 302

Total

Number: 5 589

Number: 9 323

New Cases Resolved - All Complaints Received

No.

Percentage

Dismissed

3 684

40%

Referred

2 770

30%

Settled

1 209

13%
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18%

Total
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100,00%
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New Cases Resolved - Justiciable Complaints

No.

Dismissed

Percentage

2 225

40%

670

12%

Settled

1 207

22%

Carried over

1 487

27%

Total

5 589

100,00%
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Product

No.

Percentage

Long term insurance

2 676

28,70%

Short term insurance

3 012

32,31%

Investment

1 045

11,21%

Retirement

581

6,23%

Medical aid/Assurance

175

1,88%

73

0,78%

1 761

18,89%

9323

100,00%

Forex
Non FAIS

Complaints received by province

2.99%

44.41%
3.49%

3.60%

13.55%

5.16%
2.31%

6.93%

13.72%
Province

No.

Eastern Cape

646

6,93%

Free State

481

5,16%

Gauteng

4 140

44,41%

KwaZulu-Natal

1 263

13,55%

Limpopo

279

2,99%

Mpumalanga

336

3,60%

North West

325

3,49%

Nothern Cape

215

2,31%

Western Cape

1 279

13,72%

International

78

0,84%

Not provided

281

3,01%

9 323

Statistics

Percentage

100,00%
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Settlement Value - Product

No.

Long term insurance

881

47,09%

R15 590 974

Short term insurance

612

32,71%

R11 955 096

Investment

238

12,72%

R17 155 087

Retirement

58

3,10%

R3 772 881

Medical aid/Assurance

20

1,07%

R28 882

2

0,11%

0

60

3,21%

R91 513

1871

100,00%

R48 594 433

Forex
Non FAIS

Percentage

Value

Total
Long term insurance
Short term insurance
Investment
Retirement
Medical aid/Assurance
Forex
Non FAIS
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Determination Value - Product

50%

60%

No.

70%

80%

Percentage

90%

100%

Value

Long term insurance

5

10,20%

R59 482

Short term insurance

5

10,20%

R1 150 788

39

79,59%

R16 863 577

49

100,00%

R18 073 847

Investment

Total
Long term insurance
Short term insurance
Investment
0%
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10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
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Referred to other Fora

No.

Other Fora

Percentage

581

20,97%

1 168

42,17%

47

1,70%

Ombudsman for Short Term Insurance

357

12,89%

Ombudsman for Long Term Insurance

58

2,09%

5

0,18%

99

3,57%

394

14,22%

6

0,22%

Council for Medical Schemes

31

1,12%

Credit Information Ombud

24

0,87%

2 770

100,00%

Financial Services Providers
Finacial Services Board

JSE Ombud
Ombudsman for Banking Services
National Credit Regulator
Motor Industry Ombud

Average Turnaround - Working Days

No.

Days

No. of Days - Inclusive of Weekends

7663

29.41

No. of Days - Excluding Weekends

7663

21.00

Ratio of complaints resolved

82.3%

92.9%

99%

3 Months

6 Months

9 Months

Complaints Referred to the Tribunal

No.

Total number referred

154

Right of appeal granted

3

Referred back to this Office

5

Application dismissed
Awaiting Decision

Statistics

141
5

23

24
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(1)
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(3)

Driver
(1)
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(1)
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Administrator
(1)
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Organisational Structure
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(2)
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Technical
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Managers
(2)

Junior Case
Managers
(6)

Client Care
Centre
Representatives
(9)

Finance Clerk

Graduates
(2)

Team
Leaders
(4)

Client Care
Centre
Manager
(1)

Administrator
(1)
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(2)
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(1)
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(1)
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(1)
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Human
Resources
Report

Lebogang Lebeko
HR Manager
Ombud
Mr N Tulsie

1. Introduction
The Human Resources department is at the centre of
sound employment practices through the advisory
and guidance service it provides, to management and
employees. As part of its objectives the HR department
is responsible for ensuring that a safe and healthy work
environment is created and maintained for employees in
order to help them to function optimally as well as to assist
the organisation to reach its strategic objectives.
The period under review involved the changing of the
organisational structure which was necessitated by the
need to address the latest trends in the financial services
industry. The FAIS Ombud was presented with complex
complaints which warranted the recruitment of employees
with specialised skills to address such complaints.

Technical
Department

Support
Department

Adjudication

HR

Case
Management

Finance

Client
Care
Centre

ICT

2. Employee Wellness
Employee wellness is a critical component of creating a
healthy workforce, therefore the FAIS Ombud strives to
maintain a healthy work environment through its Wellness
Programme. The programme assists employees with
necessary interventions to maintain a work-life balance.
Included is the promotion of the psycho-social wellbeing
of its employees. The overall utilisation of the Wellness
Programme is satisfactory.
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4. Human Resource Costs
a. Table 1: Personnel costs by objectives
Average Turnaround - Working Days

Cost

1.

Administration

R4,845,549.00

2.

Resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious and informal manner

3.

Enhance stakeholder management

R16,245,752.00
R1,302,599.00

Salary Total (Excl. bonuses and leave accruals)

R22,393,901.00

b. Table 2: Rewards
Performance rewards are awarded as per the Performance Management Policy. During the period under review, the FAIS
Ombud awarded performance bonuses to exceptional performers.
The table below shows the performance rewards paid per level.

Occupational level

Performance rewards

Personnel expenditure

(R’000)

(R’000)

Top Management

% of performance rewards
to total personnel cost

0

2395

0%

Senior Management

285

6422

4%

Professionally Qualified

113

4863

2%

Skilled Technical

127

3447

4%

Semi-skilled

69

3381

2%

Unskilled

10

705

1%

605

21 215

3%

Total
c. Table 3: Training costs

To ensure that individual employees are always up to date with developments in their areas of expertise, the FAIS Ombud
continuously addresses identified skills gaps in order to improve organisational performance. The FAIS Ombud also encourages
progressive personal development through investment in training and development.
The table below shows training expenditure per Department/Business Unit for the period under review.

Training expenditure
(R’000)

Number of
employees trained

GIBS Block Chain and Crypto Currency

1

1

Media Training

5

1

National Public Sector Supply Chain Process

18

1

Supply Chain Management For Pub Service

13

2

Protection of Personal Information Act

2

1

Team Effectiveness Intervention

86

50

Graduate Training

2

7

Asset Manager Training

2

2

131

65

Training attended

Total

The FAIS Ombud further offers study bursaries to all employees for qualifications relevant to its business.

Human Resources Report
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5. Human Resource Statistics
a. Table 4: Employment and vacancies
As at 31 March 2019, the FAIS Ombud had a total of 51 permanent employees and there were 11 vacancies, which will be
filled in the 2019/20 financial year.

Occupational level

Head count

Number of vacant posts

Vacancy rate

Top Management

1

0

0%

Senior Management

8

5

63%

Professionally Qualified

10

2

20%

Skilled Technical

12

4

33%

Semi-skilled

16

0

0%

Unskilled

4

0

0%

Total

51

11

22%

Number

% of staff leaving
to total staff (51)

b. Table 5: Reasons for staff leaving
Reason for leaving
Death

0

0%

Resignation

10

20%

Dismissal

0

0%

Retirement

0

0%

Ill-health

0

0%

Expiry of Contract

6

12%

Other

0

0%

Total

16

32%

c. Table 6: Labour Relations matters
Nature of disciplinary action

30

Number

Verbal Warning

1

Written Warning

-

Final Written Warning

-

Dismissal

-

FAIS OMBUD ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019

6. Graduate Programme
In supporting the national initiatives in development of skills and providing graduates with the necessary work experience
exposure, the FAIS Ombud recruits graduates annually. The graduate programme is aimed at giving unemployed graduates
workplace experience. This initiative further supports the government’s call for job creation, in line with the State President Youth
Employment Service (YES) initiative.
A total of 7 graduates were recruited during the period under review. The breakdown per Business Unit is as follows:

Department/Business unit

Number of graduates

Case Management

5

Information Communication Technology

2

7. Equity Target and Employment Equity Status
The FAIS Ombud is non-discriminatory and committed to the Code of Good Practice on employment equity. The employment
equity targets were not finalised by the end of the reporting period.
The table below indicates the breakdown of employees by gender during the period under review. There was 69% female and
31% male. There was 1 employee living with disability.

Occupational level

Male

Female

African

Coloured

Indian

Top Management

-

-

1

Senior Management

1

Professionally Qualified
and Experienced
Specialists and
Mid-management

3

Skilled Technical and
Academically Qualified
Workers

White

African

Coloured

Indian

White

-

Total
1

1

1

3

-

1

1

8

-

-

-

6

-

-

1

10

2

-

-

1

6

1

1

1

13

Semi-skilled and
DIscretionary
Decision-Makers

4

-

-

-

11

1

-

-

16

Unskilled and Defined
Decision-Makers

-

-

-

-

4

-

-

-

4

Total permanent

10

0

2

2

30

2

2

3

51

Contract / Temporary
Employees

3

-

-

1

1

-

-

-

4

Total workforce

13

0

2

3

31

2

2

3

57

Total staff complement

32%
Male

68%

Female

Human Resources Report
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“To improve is to change;
to be perfect is to change often.”
- Winston Churchill

Governance, Risk and Compliance
The King IV Report on Corporate Governance (2016) describes governance as the exercise of ethical and effective
leadership by the governing body, to achieve particular governance outcomes such as ethical culture, good
performance, effective control and legitimacy.
The Office of the FAIS Ombud is committed to driving and maintaining a culture that is accountable, and upholds
values of integrity and honesty. Good corporate governance is not a set of rules, but rather principles that
organisations such as the FAIS Ombud choose to live by.
Governance Committee Appointments
The Office accounts to the Minister of Finance through the Accounting Authority (the Commissioner of the FSCA) and the
appointed Governance Committees. The Governing Body, as appointed by the Minister of Finance, consists of 11 non-executive
members with various backgrounds. In making these appointments, consideration is given to experience, technical skills and the
interests of stakeholders in the financial services industry.
Within the reporting period, the Governance Committees met at least once per quarter and special meetings were convened when
required. The names of the members as well as a record of the number of Committee and Sub-committee meetings attended are
noted below:

Combined
Committee

Audit
Committee

Risk
Management
Committee

HR
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Total number of meetings

4

5

4

4

4

A Sithole

4

N/A

N/A

3

3

H Wilton

2

5

3

4

3

Z Bassa

3

N/A

2

3

4

O Makhubela

1

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

J Mogadime

4

5

4

N/A

N/A

F Groepe

3

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

J Momoniat

3

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

D Msomi

3

5

N/A

N/A

N/A

H Ratshefola

3

N/A

3

N/A

N/A

PJ Sutherland

3

4

N/A

N/A

N/A

D Turpin

4

N/A

4

N/A

N/A

Committee Member

Governance, Risk and Compliance
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Defined and Separate Roles: Accounting Authority and the
Ombud
The roles of the Accounting Authority and the Ombud are
separate, with a clear division of responsibilities to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The Accounting Authority
fulfils a non-executive function.
Delegation of Authority
The Delegation of Authority evidences the separation of the
roles of the Accounting Authority and the Ombud. In terms
of the FAIS Act, the Ombud has administrative powers that
enable the Ombud to run the day-to-day operations of the
FAIS Ombud efficiently.
Performance Monitoring and Reporting
Reports on the performance of the FAIS Ombud against the
Annual Performance Plan are submitted to the Minister
of Finance and National Treasury quarterly, in accordance
with Treasury Regulations. Direct oversight is exercised by
the Governance Committees through engagements with
management, following the submission of the aforesaid
reports. The Office also reports to Parliament by invitation,
normally on an annual basis.
Accountability
One of the duties of the Accounting Authority as outlined in
Section 51 of the PFMA, is to ensure that effective, efficient
and transparent systems of financial and risk management
and internal control are in place. The Accounting Authority
provides strategic direction to the FAIS Ombud, and fulfills
its responsibilities through the contributions of the Audit,
Risk Management, Human Resources and Remuneration
Governance Sub-committees.
Ethics
The Accounting Authority provides ethical leadership to the
FAIS Ombud. Its members abide by a Code of Ethics, expecting
and holding its members to high ethical standards. Similarly,
The FAIS Ombud has a Code of Ethics for its employees, and
holds employees to the standards as set out in the Code.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is, amongst others, responsible
for overseeing the internal and external audit functions,
maintaining effective and efficient internal controls, reviewing
the financial information and ensuring the integrity of the
annual financial statements. The Audit Committee assists
the Accounting Authority to safeguard the assets of the FAIS
Ombud, and to manage financial and other risks that might
affect the organisation.
Human Resources Committee
The Human Resources Committee assisted the Accounting
Authority by ensuring that the FAIS Ombud’s Human Resources
strategy and policies were adequate, reviewed regularly
for relevance, and that it was implemented effectively by
management.
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Remuneration Committee
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to assist the
Accounting Authority in ensuring that senior management
and employees of the FAIS Ombud are appropriately rewarded
for the contribution they make towards the goals of the
organisation. Not only does this ensure the retention of
employees with appropriate skills, but also employees that are
motivated to contribute in a positive manner.
Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee is responsible for assisting
the Accounting Authority and the Ombud in addressing its
oversight requirements of risk management, and evaluating
and monitoring the organisation’s performance with regards
to risk management. The Risk Management Committee’s role
is to formulate, promote and review the institution’s Enterprise
Risk Management objectives, strategy and policy and monitor
the process at strategic, management and operational levels.
Risk Management within the FAIS Ombud
The optimisation of the governance of risk in the FAIS Ombud
is noted below:
Diagram 1: FAIS Ombud Lines of Assurance

RNAL AUDIT
EXTE

E
INT

RNAL AUDIT

EXCO

LINE
MANAGEMENT

The Executive Committee of the FAIS Ombud (“EXCO”)
exercises ongoing oversight of risk management and sets the
direction for how risk should be approached and addressed
in the organisation. In making decisions, risk are treated
as integral. The Executive Committee sets the tone for the
organisation through its commitment to risk management and
its support of internal policies.
EXCO further exercises oversight over the operations of the
FAIS Ombud through monthly reporting by the respective
departments and/or sub-committees within the organisation.
This ensures accountability, transparency and fairness.
The aforesaid function is supported by regular internal and
external audits.
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Diagram 1: FAIS Ombud Lines of Assurance
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Risk management is the responsibility of every employee at the FAIS Ombud. Not only is risk management incorporated in the
individual performance contracts of each employee, but the respective departments in the organisation are actively involved in
managing their risk registers on a regular basis. It is imperative that all employees understand the risks confronting the Office in
their day-to-day activities, and how to manage these risks.
Fraud and corruption in the Public Sector Management Framework is a reality, and regarded as one of the major risks faced
by public entities. No entity is immune to fraud, and the Office of the FAIS Ombud therefore manages this risk relentlessly. Not
only are newly-appointed employees made aware about the FAIS Ombud’s zero tolerance attitude to fraud, but throughout an
employee’s stay at the FAIS Ombud, they are reminded by means of training and information sessions.
A list of the strategic risks faced by the entity are listed below.
Number

Risk

1.

Ineffective and inefficient complaints handling resulting in reputation damage and failure to meet legislative mandate

2.

Cyber security

3.

Inefficient human resource management

4.

Inadequate stakeholder management

5.

Information and communications technology

6.

Ineffective resource utilisation

7.

Fraud, corruption and unethical behaviour

8.

Ineffective financial management

Governance, Risk and Compliance

35

s
t
n
e
i
l
c
m
o
r
f
k
c
a
b
Feed
ed all the
siona l. She kept me updat
1) Nicola was very profes
mised
pro
r
ove
ss. She never
time regarding the progre
s no
wa
ere
Th
t.
ses were kep
anything but all her promi
e
Sh
to.
ded
en
s not being att
stage I felt like my case wa
her
ays
alw
d
an
es
ut tak ing sid
empathised with me witho
”.
you
for
do
ld
see what we cou
final words were “I would
a
is
e
Sh
.
en
pp
at I needed to ha
She clarified with me wh
ustry.
like her in the ser vice ind
ple
rare gem. We need peo
0
97
vice. FA IS- 08
Keep up the legendary ser

to dea l
l, efficient and a pleasure
2) Ta lisha is professiona
h you.
wit
g
lin
Wonderf ul dea
with. Than k you Ta lisha.
FA IS 10072.
provide
keep to the promise and
3) Than k-you Sif undo. You
our
ed
ess
ass
tion. You have
a sw ift and speedy resolu
iated! –
rec
app
ch
r outcome. Mu
feedback and provide a fai
06694
ISFA
y.
bod
nt, reg ulatory
Objectiv ity, fair assessme
int
y when I raised the compla
4) I was out of the countr
the
d
an
led
how it was hand
and was impressed with
Ombud. FA IS 09939
IS
FA
interaction from the

rything
AN K YOU so much for eve
5) We would like to say TH
for
d
ha
we
ma
t out the dilem
you have done to help sor
that
ow
kn
to
e
nic
reciated. it’s so
little Lyla, it is rea lly app
rds
Wo
d.
un
aro
ple like you
there is such dedicated peo
r gratitude For all the
ou
ss
pre
are not enough to ex
say
for our family. How can we
hard work you have done
l.
fee
we
de
titu
ex press the gra
thanks in a way that wi ll
How about a hug?

RV ICE
THE SE ING
H
T
I
W
F I ED
T DEA L
Y SATIS
NS A LO PRIDE IN
A
E
M
18) V ER
T
I
O.
ES
BY LOY IS RSON W HO TA K U K IN DLY
O
E
Y
P
K
A
AN
W ITH
RK. TH
O
W
R
E
HIS/H
LOY ISO
u for
an k yo a lly
h
T
,
o
d
un
e re
day Sif
atter, W
19) Good g us in this m ter was sorted
mat
ey
assistin
that this we got our mon
e
t
ia
c
e
t
a
o
appr
h
t
ople ut
uick and
have pe
o
t
l
u
out so q
f
e
u ly g rat your company.
back, tr
d
e you an
there li k

36

TH AN KS ONCE I SEND AN
EM AIL INCLU DING YOUR
NE
COMPAN Y NA ME EV ERYO
AN D
KS
AN
TH
W
WO
STAN D UP.
MUCH APPRECIATED

6)

nt. I don’t
7) Your ser vice is excelle
have words to describe it.
t
I have received a responden
my
t
tha
me
ing
letter notify
d wi ll
complain was received an
s, to
be resolved within 30 day
take 7
n
eve
n’t
did
it
my surprise
days.

8)

9)

was
They cal led after the issue
d out if
resolved with ___ _ to fin
m yes
___ _ did pay me, I I told the
00.00
and I even got paid R100
g. I
tin
pec
ex
t
no
s
which I wa
me in
ist
ass
to
m
the
contacted
my
to
d
an
nt
ou
acc
pay ing my
due
y
ne
mo
s
wa
re
surprise the
me.
to me. Early Christmas for
iated
Than k you, much apprec
job that
at
gre
ng
doi
up
and keep
you are doing

mend you
10) I wi ll defi nitely recom
are my
You
se.
ari
ed
should a ne
Hero.

17) I REMAIN VERY
IMPRESSED WITH
THE PROMPTNESS
AND SWIFT RESPONSE
EMPLOUED BY LOYISO
ON HIS CASES. VERY
REFRESHING AND
ALWAYS APLEASURE
DEALING WITH
LOYISO. KEEP IT UP!

FAIS OMBUD ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019

11) The matter was resolved one day
follow ing our final submissions on
the matter: that’s amazing!!
12) EXCELLENT AND PROFESSIONAL
SERV ICE WITH VERY GOOD
TURNAROU ND TIME.
13) You interact on my beha lf as soon
as possible and tried your outmost
best to get positive feedback.
14) Keep up the good work and was a
pleasure to do business with you.
15) I would like to compliment
Michael Willmore. He has been
most professional and gone to
great lengths to assist me. His
patience with this matter is to be
commended. Than k you so much
for all your help, your service was
excel lent. Words cannot express
my gratitude and appreciation.
16) Extremely satisfied with
turnaround times and
communication considering time
of claim turn around decision.
I have received feedback and
acknowledgement of complaint
on the same day complaint was
submitted. I am very pleased and
comfortable with the process
thus far and look forward to
continuously work ing with the
Ombud

20) Than
k-you Sif
undo. Yo
promise
u keep
and prov
to the
ide a sw
resolutio
if t and s
n. You
peedy
have a
feedback
ssessed
and prov
our
ide a fair
appreciate
outcome.
d
Much
21) Once
again, th
an k you
efficient a
for the s
ction reg
w if t and
arding m
y compla
22) “Fin
int.
ding som
eone w il
help whe
ling to li
n yo
g reater th u feel powerless h sten and
as va lue
at what
far
you may
T ha n k y
ou for th
ever rea
lise.
at.” “Tha
hope you
n k you fo
gave us.”
r the

23) I would like to thank Talisha
Rothman for all her assistance
and guidance in settling this
case in such a positive way.
Talisha was very helpful and
approachable
24) We as a family would like to
THANK Fais Ombud for all
the help you have given us, if it
was not for your expertise and
all the help, hard we would not
have been able to secure Lyla’s
future. What you have done
for Lyla is truly appreciated.
Special thanks to Talisha
for all the hard work and
friendliness, you put into our
claim, you are a STAR.

Feedback from clients

37

“Education is the
most powerful weapon
which you can use
to change the world.”
- Nelson Mandela

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
THE OFFICE OF THE OMBUD FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES PROVIDERS
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Accounting Authority’s Responsibilities and Approval
The Commissioner, as Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) (“PFMA”),
to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements
and related financial information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the accounting authority to ensure
that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year and
the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The Auditor-General South Africa (“AGSA”)
is engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements and was given unrestricted access to all
financial records and related data.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
(“GRAP”) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board (“ASB”).
The financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The Accounting Authority acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable
the Accounting Authority to meet these responsibilities, it sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the
risk of error in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly
defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all
known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within
predetermined procedures and constraints.
The Accounting Authority is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation
of the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement.
The Accounting Authority has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to March 31, 2020 and, in the light
of this review and the current financial position, is satisfied that the entity has or has access to adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Although the Accounting Authority is primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the entity, it is supported by the
entity’s external auditors, the AGSA.
The AGSA are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity’s financial statements. The financial
statements have been examined by the AGSA and their report is presented on page 14.
The financial statements set out on pages 43 to 73, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the Accounting Authority on July 31, 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Abel Sithole
Commissioner
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Audit Committee Report
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended March 31, 2019.
Audit Committee members and attendance
The Audit Committee is a sub-committee and consists of only non-executive members. During the current year a total of six (6)
meetings were held of which five were ordinary meetings and one special audit committee meeting. The Audit Committee consists of
the members listed hereunder:
Name of member
Mogadime J (Chairperson)
Wilton H
Msomi D
Ratshefola MH
Sutherland PJ

Number of meetings attended
6/6
3/6
6/6
1/6
6/6

Audit Committee’s responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) and section 77 of the PFMA and
Treasury Regulations 3.1 and 27.1.
The Audit Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated
its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.
The Accounting Authority has established a Risk Management Committee to oversee the risks associated with the entity. The
chairperson of the Audit Committee is a member of the Risk Management Committee and vice versa to ensure that relevant
information is transferred effectively. The Risk Management Committee fulfils an oversight role on financial reporting risks, internal
financial controls, compliance risks, fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting, and information technology risks as these relate to
financial reporting.
The effectiveness of internal financial controls
The system of internal controls applied by the entity over financial and risk management is effective, efficient and transparent. In
line with the PFMA and the King IV Report on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and
management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of a risk based internal
audit plan, internal audit assessing the adequacy of controls mitigating the risks, as well as the identification of corrective actions and
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the
financial statements, and the management report of the Auditor-General South Africa, it was noted that no matters were reported
that indicate any material deficiencies in the system of internal control or any deviations therefrom. Accordingly, we can report that
the system of internal control over financial reporting for the period under review was efficient and effective.
Evaluation of financial statements
The Audit Committee has:
• reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements to be included in the annual report, with the Auditor-General South
Africa and the Accounting Authority;
• reviewed the Auditor-General South Africa’s management report and management’s response thereto;
• reviewed the entities compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
The Audit Committee concurs with and accepts the Auditor-General South Africa’s report on the financial statements, and is of the
opinion that the audited financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General South Africa.
Internal audit
The Audit Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively in compliance with TR 3.2 and that it has
addressed the risks pertinent to the entity.
Role of the Audit Committee subsequent to 31 March 2019
The transition towards the Twin Peaks model had not been finalised as at the financial year ending 31 March 2019. No date has been
set down to confirm the finalisation of this process. Based on this there is uncertainty within the Audit Committee to the extent of our
roles and responsibilities going forward.
Auditor-General South Africa
The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor-General South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues.
The Audit Committee recommended, at its meeting held on 12 July 2019, the approval of the annual financial statements to the
Accounting Authority.

J Mogadime
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
Accounting Authority’s Responsibilities and Approval
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Risk Management Committee’s Report
Effective risk management is imperative to the FAIS Ombud to fulfil its mandate. Risk management efforts are focused
on supporting the FAIS Ombud’s strategic objectives.
1. Governance of Risk
The Accounting Authority has committed the FAIS Ombud to a process of risk management that is aligned to the
principles of good corporate governance, as supported by the PFMA, and supported by King IV principles.
The Accounting Authority has delegated certain aspects of its authority as it pertains to risk management to the
Risk Management Committee.
The committee consists only of non-executive members. The committee’s overall objective is to assist the Accounting
Authority in fulfilling its responsibility of risk management by ensuring that management identifies significant risks
associated with the environment within which the FAIS Ombud operates and develops a framework for managing
these risks. The Risk Management Strategy, incorporating a Fraud Prevention Plan, has been developed accordingly.
The committee meets at least four times a year. The Ombud, CFO and HR Generalist are permanent invitees of the
Committee. Members of the FAIS Ombud Executive Committee or other members of senior management of the
FAIS Ombud, assurance providers and other Board members may be required to attend committee meetings by
invitation only.
The committee is an advisory committee and not an executive committee and as such it does not perform any
management functions or assume any management responsibilities. Its role is that of an independent and objective
adviser and it operates as an overseer, making recommendations to the Accounting Authority for final approval.
The committee has complied with its responsibilities as stipulated in Section 51 of the PFMA. Furthermore, the Risk
Management Committee has regulated its affairs and discharged its responsibilities in accordance with its formal
terms of reference and provided objective oversight and advice.
2. Roles and Responsibilities
The Risk Management Committee has fulfilled its oversight responsibility for risk management by ensuring that:
• The risk management strategy, risk management policy and risk management plans were considered;
• The continual monitoring of risks was undertaken;
• The risk management plan is integrated into the daily activities of the FAIS Ombud;
• Management has identified significant risks associated with the environment within which the FAIS Ombud
operates and has developed a framework for managing these risks;
• The risk management strategy covering strategic, operational and financial risks was reviewed and approved;
• The risk management strategy incorporates a Fraud Prevention Strategy, which in turn incorporates the Fraud
Prevention Policy, the Fraud Prevention Plan, the Fraud Response Plan and the Whistle Blowing Policy; and
• The systems for risk management processes are effective.

Mr Hamilton Ratshefola
Chairperson: Risk Management Committee
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Office of the Ombud for
Financial Services Providers
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
1.

I have audited the financial statements of the Office of the ombud for financial services providers set out on pages 46 to 70,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of financial performance, statement
of changes net assets, the cash flow statement and the statement of comparison of budget and with actual amounts for the
year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

2.

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Office of the ombud
for financial services providers as at 31 March 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Public
Finance Management Act (Act no. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

Basis for opinion
3.

I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
this auditor’s report.

4.

I am independent of the public entity in accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code), parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.

5.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of matter
6.

I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Irregular expenditure incurred
7.

As disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, the entity incurred irregular expenditure of R5 255 275 in the current year,
as it did not follow a proper tender process.

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the financial statements
8.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management
Act (Act no. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

9.

In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the Office of the ombud for
financial services provider’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure either intends to liquidate the
public entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
10. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
11. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s
report.
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Report on the audit of the annual performance report
Introduction and scope
12. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in terms
thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against predetermined
objectives for selected strategic goal presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to identify findings
but not to gather evidence to express assurance.
13. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance planning
documents of the public entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators/
measures included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating
to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported
performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters.
14. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed
from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected
strategic goal presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2019:
STRATEGIC GOAL

PAGES IN THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

Strategic goal 1: To resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious
and informal manner to the satisfaction of customers

71 – 74

15. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether
performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to
determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the
reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.
16. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for this strategic
goal:
• Strategic goal 1: To Resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious and informal manner to the satisfaction of customers
Other matters
17. I draw attention to the matters below.
Achievement of planned targets
18. Refer to the annual performance report on pages … to … for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year
and over achievement of a number of targets
Adjustment of material misstatements
19. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements
were on the reported performance information of Strategic goal 1 – Customer satisfaction through effective complaints
resolution. As management subsequently corrected the misstatements, I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness
and reliability of the reported performance information.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report
Introduction and scope
20. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings
on the compliance of the public entity with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but
not to gather evidence to express assurance.
21. The material finding on compliance with specific matters in key legislations is as follows:
Expenditure Management
22. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R 5 255 275 as disclosed in note
26 to the annual financial statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the irregular expenditure
disclosed in the financial statements was caused by contracts which were entered in to without following competitive bidding
processes in contravention of SCM prescripts and treasury regulations and the PFMA. Irregular expenditure amounting to
R1 196 055 was incurred on the lease contract for the new office premises. Irregular expenditure amounting to R2 906 902
relates to payments made on the old lease contract for the public entity’s previous offices.
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Other information
23. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report which includes the directors’ report and the audit committee’s report. The other information does not
include financial statements, the auditor’s report and the selected strategic goal presented in the annual performance report
that has been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.
24. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with legislation
do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
25. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with financial statements and the selected strategic goal presented in the annual
performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
26. I did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read this information,
if I conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance and request that the other information be corrected. If the other information is not corrected, I may have
to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be
necessary.

Internal control deficiencies
27. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and
compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it.
Financial and performance management
28. Non-compliance with legislation could have been prevented had compliance been properly reviewed and monitored by the
entity. The controls over the compliance function must be reviewed and revised where necessary to ensure that there are
proper controls going forward that will prevent and detect any noncompliance with supply chain management principles.

Auditor-General
Pretoria
31 July 2019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2019

Notes

2019

2018

R

R

ASSETS
Current assets
Receivables from exchange transactions

2

979,409

480,466

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

3

13,778,267

1,055,544

Pre-payments

4

307,443

381,475

Cash and cash equivalents

5

1,636,246

3,617,053

16,701,365

5,534,538

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

6

1,782,516

1,304,119

Intangible assets

7

579,083

408,666

2,361,599

1,712,785

19,062,964

7,247,323

1,468,873

3,459,305

1,468,873

3,459,305

NET ASSETS

17,594,091

3,788,018

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

17,594,091

3,788,018

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables from exchange transactions
TOTAL LIABILITIES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
as at 31 March 2019

Notes

2019

2018

R

R

Revenue from non exchange transactions

10

54,846,504

49,421,164

Revenue from exchange transactions

11

22,646

-

(15,613,418)

(16,369,959)

(24,559,153)

(30,045,296)

(890,506)

(928,858)

Operating expenses
Personnel costs
Depreciation, impairment and amortization

12
6&7

Operating surplus / (deficit)

13

13,806,073

2,077,051

Finance costs

14

-

(6,251)

13,806,073

2,070,800

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
as at 31 March 2019
Accumulated surplus

Total net assets

R

R

Balance at 01 April 2017

1,717,218

1,717,218

Surplus for the year

2,070,800

2,070,800

Total changes

2,070,800

2,070,800

Balance at 01 April 2018

3,788,018

3,788,018

Surplus for the year

13,806,073

13,806,073

Total changes

13,806,073

13,806,073

Balance at 31 March 2019

17,594,091

17,594,091
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
as at 31 March 2019

Notes

2019

2018

R

R

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from entities

41,698,870

48,322,659

(42,163,002)

(45,853,740)

17

(464,132)

2,468,919

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

6

(1,102,656)

(306,863)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

6

54,916

-

Purchase of intangible assets

7

(468,935)

(430,876)

(1,516,675)

(737,739)

-

(74,121)

(1,980,807)

1,657,059

3,617,053

1,959,994

1,636,246

3,617,053

Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Net cash inflow from operating activities

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net cash outflow from investing activities

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance lease payments
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash investments
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET
AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
as at 31 March 2019

Approved
budget

Adjustments

R

R

Final Budget

Actual
amounts on
comparable
basis

Difference
between
final budget
and actual

R

R

R

Reference

REVENUE
Levies

53,754,129

1,092,500

54,846,629

54,846,504

(125)

26

(34,701,830)

-

(34,701,830)

(24,559,153)

10,142,677

26

(1,051,701)

-

(1,051,701)

(890,506)

161,195

26

General expenses

(17,849,303)

(1,092,500)

(18,941,803)

(15,613,418)

3,328,385

26

Total expenditure

(53,602,834)

(1,092,500)

(54,695,334)

(41,063,077)

13,632,257

151,295

-

151,295

13,783,427

13,632,132

-

-

-

22,646

22,646

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year

151,295

-

151,295

13,806,073

13,654,778

Actual amount on comparable
basis as presented in the
Statement of Comparison of
Budget and Actual Amounts

151,295

-

151,295

13,806,073

13,654,778

EXPENDITURE
Personnel cost
Depreciation and amortisation

Operating (deficit) / surplus
Profit on sale of property, plant
and equipment
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
as at 31 March 2019
1. Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
(GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act
(Act 1 of 1999) (PFMA).
These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and on an accrual basis of accounting and are in
accordance with the historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in
South African Rands (R).

Standards and amendments to standards issued but not effective:
GRAP 20

Related party disclosures

Effective 1 April 2019

GRAP 32

Service concession arrangement: grantor

Effective 1 April 2019

GRAP 34

Separate financial statements

No Effective date

GRAP 35

Consolidated financial statements

No Effective date

GRAP 36

Investments in associates and joint ventures

No Effective date

GRAP 37

Joint arrangements

No Effective date

GRAP 38

Disclosure of interests in other entities

Effective 1 April 2019

GRAP 108

Statutory receivables

Effective 1 April 2019

GRAP 109

Accounting by principals and agents

Effective 1 April 2019

GRAP 110

Living and non-living resources

Issued March 2017

GRAP 104

Financial Instruments (Revised)

No Effective date

The entity has not early adopted any of these standards or
amendments thereto. The implementation of these standards
will not have a material impact on the reporting requirements
of the entity. A summary of the significant accounting policies,
which have been consistently applied in the preparation of
these financial statements, are disclosed below.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous
period.
1.1 PRESENTATION CURRENCY
These financial statements are presented in South African
Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.
1.2 GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

1.3 SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In preparing the financial statements, management is required
to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect
the amounts represented in the financial statements and
related disclosures. Management is also required to exercise
judgement in the process of applying the entity’s accounting
policies. Use of available information and the application of
judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual
results in the future could differ from these estimates which
may be material to the financial statements. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revision to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised and any future periods
affected. Significant estimates, judgements and assumptions
include:

These financial statements have been prepared based on the
expectation that the entity will continue to operate as a going
concern for at least the next 12 months.
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Impairment of financial assets
The entity assesses its financial assets for impairment at the
end of each reporting period. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the
entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a financial asset.
Useful lives and residual values
The entity reasesses the useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets on an
annual basis. In reassessing the useful lives of these assets,
management considers the condition and the use of the
individual assets to determine the remaining period over
which the asset can and will be used. The residual values of
these assets have been estimated as the amount that the
entity would currently obtain from disposal of each significant
asset, in its current location, if the asset were already of the
age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
1.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange
transaction, its initial cost as at date of acquisition is measured
as its fair value as at that date.
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their
estimated residual value. Leased assets are depreciated in a
consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful
ife or the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current
assets that are held for use in the supply of services and for
administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during
more than one period.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset when:

•
•

it is probable that future economic benefits or service
potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;
and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item
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Depreciation method

Average useful life

Furniture and fixtures

Straight-line

3 - 17 years

Motor vehicles

Straight-line

16 years

Office equipment

Straight-line

4 - 16 years

Computer equipment

Straight-line

3 - 15 years

Leasehold improvements

Straight-line

4 - 5 years

Office equipment under finance lease

Straight-line

5 years

Paintings

Straight-line

16 years
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The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which
the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are
expected to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation
method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each
reporting date and, if there has been a significant change in
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the
method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a
change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any
indication that the expectations about the residual value and
the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding
reporting date. If any such indication exists, the entity revises
the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The
change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount
of another asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use
of the asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and
maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the
financial statements (see note 6).
1.5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights
from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are
transferable or separable from the entity or from other
rights and obligations.
A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers
similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in
the form of a contract.
The cost of an item of intangible asset is recognised as an
asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service
potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;
and
•

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange
transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured
at its fair value as at that date.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses.
An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful
life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to
generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation
is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets
amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
useful life.The entity does not have any intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

An intangible asset is identifiable if it either:
• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided
from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or
exchanged, either individually or together with a related
contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of
whether the entity intends to do so; or

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows:
Item

Depreciation method

Average useful life

Licences

Straight-line

1 - 5 years

Computer software

Straight-line

3 - 9 years

Data management system

Straight-line

3 years

Website

Straight-line

6 - 7 years

Intangible assets are derecognised:
• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from their use or disposal.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible assets is included in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.
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1.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Definitions
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual
interest of another entity.
The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability
is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments,
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or
through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or
uncollectibility.
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
(or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument
(for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall
not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes
all fees and points paid or received between parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There
is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a
group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably.
However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably
estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a financial
instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall
use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term
of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged,
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in
an arm’s length transaction.
A financial asset is:
• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or
• a contractual right to:
- receive cash or another financial asset from another
entity; or
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- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with
another entity under conditions that are potentially
favourable to the entity.
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual
obligation to:
• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates.
Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event
of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset.
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk
or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the
market.
A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to
make a payment when contractually due.
Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative
financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have
fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments
that:
• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
• are held for trading.
Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual
interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.
Classification
The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes
and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of
financial position or in the notes thereto:

Class

Category

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Receivables from exchange transactions

Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Financial asset measured at amortised cost
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The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of financial
position or in the notes thereto:
Class

Category

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Trade and other payable from non-exchange transactions

Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Initial recognition

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date
accounting. The trade date is the date on which the entity
commits to purchase or sell the instrument.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cashflow, discounted at the effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced by the amount of the
impairment, which is recognised in the statement of financial
performance. When the receivable is uncollectable, it is
written off and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited in operating expenses in the statement
of financial performance.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities

Trade and other payables from exchange from exchange and
non-exchange

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability
initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or
financial liability.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in
its statement of financial position when the entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities
The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities
after initial recognition using the following categories:
• Financial instruments at fair value - subsequently measured
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value being included in surplus or deficit for the period.
• Financial instruments at amortised cost - subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method, less accumulated impairment losses.
• Financial instruments at cost - subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses.
All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are
subject to an impairment review.
Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets
The entity assess at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of financial assets is impaired.
Receivables from exchange from exchange and non-exchange
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method less allowance for impairment. An allowance
for impairment is established when there is objective evidence
that not all amounts due will be collected in accordance with
the original terms, significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and
default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators
that the receivable is impaired.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits
held at banks. Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at
cost, which equates to their fair value.
Derecognition
Financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the entity has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (or a part of a financial liability) are removed
from its statement of financial position when, and only when,
they are extinguished — i.e. when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
Presentation
Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that
is a financial liability is recognised as finance income or finance
costs in surplus or deficit.
Offsetting financial instruments
A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the
net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when the entity currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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1.7 LEASES
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as
a finance lease obligation.
The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the
minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the
lease.
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the
finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the
remaining balance of the liability.
Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual
payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.
1.8 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CASH-GENERATING ASSETS
Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of
generating a commercial return. Commercial return means
that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher
than the cost of the asset.
Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cashgenerating assets.
Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or
service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits
or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised
in the statement of financial position after deducting any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses thereon.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from
the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.
Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cashgenerating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use.
Useful life is either:
(a) the period of time over which an asset is expected to be
used by the entity; or
(b the number of production or similar units expected to be
obtained from the asset by the entity.
1.9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an
entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as
an expense as the employees render services that increase
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences,
when the absence occurs. The entity measures the expected
cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional
amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused
entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.
The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and
performance related payments when the entity has a present
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a
result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has
no realistic alternative but to make the payments.
Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans
under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to
the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income
tax expense.
Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the
depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.
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1.1 0 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

1.12 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Provisions are recognised when:

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or
service potential received and receivable by an entity, which
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases
relating to contributions from owners.

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past
event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential will be required to
settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date.
Where the effect of time value of money is material, the
amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability.
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is
no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential will be required, to
settle the obligation.
A provision is used only for expenditures for which the
provision was originally recognised.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.
Contingencies are disclosed in note 19.
1.11 COMMITMENTS
Items are classified as commitments when an entity has
committed itself to future transactions that will normally
result in the outflow of cash.
Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual
commitments.
Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a
fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the financial
statements, if both the following criteria are met:
• Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at
significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or
building maintenance services); and
• Contracts should relate to something other than the
routine, steady, state business of the entity – therefore
salary commitments relating to employment contracts or
social security benefit commitments are excluded.
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Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form
of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another entity in
exchange.
Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity
either receives value from another entity without directly
giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to
another entity without directly receiving approximately equal
value in exchange.
Recognition
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the
extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same
inflow.
Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the
amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity,
which is based on the annual budget.
When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity
recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to
the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the
date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a
liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will
be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to
settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of
the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When
a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event
occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction
in the liability is recognised as revenue.
1.13 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
1.14 FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.
All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted
for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.
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1.15 IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is
expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement
of any applicable legislation, including (a) the PFMA; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or
any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
(c) the entity’s supply chain management policy.
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during
the current financial and which was condoned before year-end
and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must
also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure
register. In such an instance, no further action is required with
the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.
Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous
financial year and is only condoned in the following financial
year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial
statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is
subject to common control, or joint control.
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the reporting entity and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
Management are those persons responsible for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including
those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance
with legislation, in instances where they are required to
perform such functions.
1.18 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Events after the reporting date are those events, both
favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the
reporting date and the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

1.16 BUDGET INFORMATION

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at
the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting
date); and

Entity is subject to budgetary limits in the form of
appropriations or budget authorisations, which is given effect
through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the
reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting
date).

The approved budget is prepared on a accrual basis and
presented by functional classification linked to performance
outcome objectives.

The entity will adjust the amount recognised in the financial
statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date
once the event occurred.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 01-Apr-18
to 31-Mar-19.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate
of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot
be made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where
non-disclosure could influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts
has been included in the financial statements as the
recommended disclosure when the financial statements and
the budget are on the same basis of accounting as determined
by National Treasury.
Comparative information is not required.
1.17 RELATED PARTIES
A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to
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1.19 PREPAYMENTS
Prepayments are payments made in advance for services
that have not been delivered for which the entity expects
the delivery in the next financial period. Prepayments are
recognised as current assets and are not discounted as the
discounting effect thereof is considered immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 March 2019
2. Receivables from exchange transactions

2019

2018

R

R

Sundry debtors

837,302

372,050

Study advances

134,607

108,416

7,500

-

979,409

480,466

Other receivables

Fair value of receivables from exchange transactions
The carrying amount of receivables from exchange transactions approximates their fair value. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The entity does not hold any collateral as
security.
3. Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Financial Sector Conduct Authority

2019

2018

R

R

13,778,267

1,055,544

Fair value of receivables from non-exchange transactions
The carrying amount of receivables from non-exchange transactions approximates their fair value. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The entity does not hold any
collateral as security.
4. Prepayments

The prepayments relate to the rental of the office premises for April 2019.

5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2019

2018

R

R

Cash on hand

7,000

1,466

Bank balances

1,629,246

3,615,587

1,636,246

3,617,053

Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand
The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can
be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information about counterparty default rates:
Credit rating
BB+ (Fitch)
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R
1,629,246

R
3,615,587
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6. Property, plant and equipment
2019

2018

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
depreciation
and accumulated
impairment

1,309,552

(1,091,653)

217,899

1,297,933

(993,159)

304,774

137,285

(136,327)

958

137,285

(135,369)

1,916

Office equipment

1,007,296

(815,995)

191,301

970,467

(683,422)

287,045

Computer equipment

2,373,357

(1,391,806)

981,551

1,841,892

(1,188,490)

653,402

Leasehold improvements

885,993

(495,186)

390,807

482,746

(426,005)

56,741

Office equipment under finance lease

375,333

(375,333)

-

375,333

(375,333)

-

26,376

(26,376)

-

26,376

(26,135)

241

6,115,192

(4,332,676)

1,782,516

5,132,032

(3,827,913)

1,304,119

Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Paintings
Total

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
depreciation
and accumulated
impairment

Carrying
value

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2019
Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

304,774

11,619

-

(98,494)

217,899

1,916

-

-

(958)

958

Office equipment

287,045

36,829

-

(132,573)

191,301

Computer equipment

653,402

650,961

(32,270)

(290,542)

981,551

56,741

403,247

-

(69,181)

390,807

241

-

-

(241)

-

1,304,119

1,102,656

(32,270)

(591,989)

1,782,516

Additions

Depreciation

Impairment
loss

Total

Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements
Paintings

Depreciation

Total

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2018
Opening
balance
Furniture and fixtures

333,434

66,498

(93,717)

(1,441)

304,774

3,831

-

(1,915)

-

1,916

Office equipment

403,544

23,279

(139,778)

-

287,045

Computer equipment

699,874

217,086

(259,152)

(4,406)

653,402

Leasehold improvements

154,417

-

(97,676)

-

56,741

52,870

-

(52,870)

-

-

482

-

(241)

-

241

1,648,452

306,863

(645,349)

(627 869)

1,304,119

Motor vehicles

Office equipment under finance lease
Paintings
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6. Property, plant and equipment (cont)
Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment included in Statement of Financial Performance
General expenses

11,721

18,197

7. Intangible assets
2019
Accumulated
amortisation
and accumulated
impairment

Cost/
valuation
Licences

2018
Carrying
value

Accumulated
amortisation
and accumulated
impairment

Cost/
valuation

Carrying
value

254,181

(221,371)

32,810

241,658

(160,460)

81,198

1,061,261

(780,109)

281,152

714,350

(609,373)

104,977

Data management system

485,843

(485,843)

-

485,843

(485,843)

-

Website

401,890

(136,769)

265,121

292,390

(69,899)

222,491

2,203,175

(1,624,092)

579,083

1,734,241

(1,325,575)

408,666

Computer software

Total

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2019
Opening balance
Licences

Additions

Amortisation

Total

81,198

12,524

(60,912)

32,810

104,977

346,911

(170,736)

281,152

-

-

-

-

222,491

109,500

(66,870)

265,121

408, 666

468, 935

(293, 518)

579, 083

Opening balance

Additions

Amortisation

Total

Licenses

120,056

147,326

(186,184)

81,198

Computer software

133,573

40,700

(69,296)

104,977

-

-

-

-

1,823

242,850

(22,182)

222,491

255,452

430,876

(277,662)

408,666

Computer software
Data management system
Website

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2018

Data management system
Website

Intangible assets in the process of being constructed or developed
Other information
Fully amortised intangible assets still in use

485,843

485,843

The data management system was budgeted to be replaced in 2018 - 2019 financial year, resulting in the assets being fully
amortised. The procurement process was not finalised by end of the financial year. The book value therefore remains zero. It is
budgeted to be replaced in the 2019 - 2020 financial year.
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8. Payables from exchange transactions
2019
Trade payables
Operating lease liability
Accrued leave pay
Other accrued expenses

2018

515,095

1,198,758

98,236

346,255

852,569

1,068,428

2,973

845,864

1,468,873

3,459,305

The carrying amount of trade and other payables from exchange transactions approximates their fair value. Furthermore, the
operating lease liability results from the smoothing of the operating lease over the lease term. The entity entered into a three year
lease for the office premises which escalates at 8% p.a.
Operating lease smoothing

2019

Current liability

98,236

2020

2021

238,318

141,103

2022

Total
-

477,657

9. Financial instruments
Financial assets at amortised costs
Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Receivables from exchange transactions
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepayments

Financial liabilities at amortised costs
Payables from exchange transactions

2019

2018

13,778,267

1,055,544

979,409

480,466

1,636,246

3,617,053

307,443

381,475

16,701,365

5,534,538

2019

2018

1,556,089

3,459,305

10. Revenue

Levies

2019

2018

54,846,504

49,421,164

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:
Transfer revenue
Levies

2019

2018

54,846,504

49,421,164

11. Revenue from exchange transactions
The amount included in other revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:
2019
Gain on sale of assets
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22,646

2018
-
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12. Personnel costs
2019

2018

Accrued leave pay charges

852,569

1,170,895

Bonus payments

880,412

822,805

Compensation Fund contributions

17,717

-

Long-service awards

96,000

18,000

22,393,901

27,652,426

223,855

266,034

94,699

115,137

24,559,153

30,045,297

Salaries
Skills development levies
Unemployment Insurance Fund contributions

13. Operating (deficit)/surplus
The operating (deficit)/surplus is stated after accounting for the following:
Auditors’ remuneration

2019

2018

1,594,623

1,353,867

Bank charges

29,272

24,811

Cleaning

83,713

86,970

154,503

6,000

2,159,428

2,592,436

490,638

419,714

Entertainment

47,977

39,419

Flowers and gifts

28,495

58,476

IT expenses

618,861

367,617

Insurance

120,260

113,384

-

28,035

Lease rentals on operating lease

2,836,242

3,022,393

Litigation fees

2,239,796

3,998,290

11,721

10,317

Non-executive Board Members’ Fees

359,157

285,161

Operating cost - office building lease

423,970

359,092

10,266

9,919

763,575

627,267

72,404

516,468

Recruitment and advertising

154,580

48,717

Relocation costs

136,453

-

1,669,741

628,198

Security

150,157

74,430

Staff welfare

112,421

82,912

Strategic planning and workshops

305,802

128,629

64,870

82,594

220,409

424,022

33,682

236,582

Training

197,688

353,038

Travel - local

336,090

391,201

Travel - overseas

186,624

-

15,613,418

16,369,959

Conference and seminar
Consulting and professional fees
Electricity

Lease - photocopier

Motor vehicle expenses

Postage and courier services
Printing and stationery
Promotions

Repairs and maintenance

Subscriptions and membership fees
Telephone and fax
Text books or library books
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14. Finance costs
2019
Finance leases

2018

-

6,251

15. Taxation
No provision has been made for taxation as the entity is exempt from taxation in terms of section 10(1)(cA)(i)(bb) of the Income
Tax Act,1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962 as amended).
16. Auditors’ remuneration
External audit: prior year audit fees

1,402,542

1,054,378

192,081

299,489

1,594,623

1,353,867

13,806,073

2,070,800

Depreciation and amortisation

890,506

928,857

Loss on derecognition of assets

(22,646)

-

-

6,251

(498,943)

(152,434)

(12,722,723)

(1,055,544)

74,032

109,473

(1,990,431)

604,434

-

(42,918)

464, 132

2,468,919

– within one year

2,966,223

2,109,318

– in second to fifth year inclusive

5,156,634

-

8,122,857

2,109,318

Internal audit: current year fees

17. Cash (used in) generated from operations
Surplus
Adjustments for:

Finance costs – finance leases
Changes in working capital:
Receivables from exchange transactions
Other receivables from non-exchange transactions
Prepayments
Payables from exchange transactions
Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions

18. Operating lease commitments
Operating leases – as lessee
Minimum lease payments due

Office accomodation is leased in terms of an operating lease. The entity is required to give six months notice for the renewal of
the lease. The operating lease rentals include charges for rental, parking, operational costs, electricity, rates and levies. Escalations
of 8% annually have been included in the lease agreement.
Office accommodation leases are negotiated for an average term of three years. No contingent rent is payable.
Office plants are leased in terms of an operating lease. The operating lease is for a term of three years and rentals include the
installation, servicing and maintenance of the equipment. No contingent rent is payable.
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19. Contingent liabilities
The are no known contigent liabilities or pending litigation that required disclosure that are known to management as at 31 March
2019 (2018: Rnil).
20. Related parties
2019

2018

Related party balances
Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable) from non exchange transactions
regarding related parties:
Financial Sector Conduct Authority

13,778,267

1,055,544

54,846,504

49,421,164

(80,582)

(159,994)

Related-party transactions
Revenue from non-exchange transactions:
Financial Sector Conduct Authority
Administration fees (paid) to received from related parties:
Financial Sector Conduct Authority

The entity and the Financial Services Board both report to the Board of the Financial Services Board and the entity is funded by
levies collected by the Financial Services Board.
21. Key management and non-executive board members’ remuneration
Personnel costs include the cost to the Office for the following key staff members, as well as members’ fees for non-executive
members.
Key management
2019
Emoluments
NS Tulsie, Ombud
(Appointed 1 May 2018)

Travel
Pension
Allowance contribution

Performance
Leave
bonus
commutation

Total

1,851,519

-

199,735

255,000

142,844

2,449,098

S Maharaj, CFO
(Appointed 1 September 2018)

622,951

-

67,299

-

-

690,250

LC Lebeko, HR Generalist
(Appointed 1 November 2018)

282,031

-

30,469

-

-

312,500

NN Bam, Ombud,
(Until 30 April 2018)

198,905

2,000

29,359

-

72,811

303,075

EB Sehlaphelo, Deputy Ombud
(Until 30 April 2018)

105,397

-

11,386

-

103,903

220,686

3,060,803

2,000

338,248

255,000

319,558

3,975,609

Emoluments

Travel
Allowance

Pension
contribution

NN Bam, FAIS Ombud

2,292,277

24 000

338,482

300,000

274,288

3,229,047

EB Sehlaphelo, Deputy Ombud
(Until 30 April 2018)

1,264,764

-

136,636

-

32,251

1,433,651

J Goodey, Finance Manager
(Resigned on 27 March 2018)

1,021,498

-

110,356

-

22,590

1,154,444

680,295

-

99,413

62,107

15,562

857,377

5,258,834

24 000

684,887

362,107

344,691

6,674,519

2018

SS Sabela, Assistant Ombud
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Non-executive Board members
2019
Human
Resource and
Remuneration
Committee

Audit
Committee
Risk

Management
Committee

Other

Total

AM Sithole

23,968

-

5,916

-

29,884

H Wilton

18,051

23,968

23,968

-

65,987

-

38,909

23,968

-

62,877

23,968

38,910

-

10,352

73,230

-

12,135

23,968

-

36,103

17,749

38,909

-

5,916

62,574

-

-

17,010

-

17,010

83,736

152,831

94,830

16,268

347,665

Human
Resource and
Remuneration
Committee

Audit
Committee
Risk

Management
Committee

Other

Total

J Mogadime
D Msomi
MH Ratshefola
PJ Sutherland
DLD Turpin

2018

AM Sithole

11,524

-

-

-

11,524

H Wilton

17,132

28,348

17,132

-

62,612

ZBM Bassa

14,328

-

11,524

-

25,852

J Mogadime

-

34,264

22,740

-

57,004

D Msomi

-

34,264

-

22,187

56,451

MH Ratshefola

-

-

17,132

-

17,132

PJ Sutherland

-

28,656

-

-

28,656

DLD Turpin

-

-

25,924

-

25,924

42,984

125,532

94,452

22,187

285,155

22. Changes in estimates
Property, plant and equipment
The useful life of certain property, plant and equipment was reassessed and management have revised their estimates. The effect
of this revision has decreased the depreciation charges for the current period by R958 (2018: R18 927). In future periods the
depreciation charges will increase by R958 (2018: R18 927).
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23. Risk management
Financial risk management
In the course of the entity’s operations, it is exposed to credit, liquidity, and market risk (currency, interest rate and other price
risk). The entity has developed a strategy in terms of Treasury Regulation 28.1 in order to monitor and control these risks. Internal
audit reports are submitted quarterly to the Audit and Risk Management Committees, independent committees that monitor risks
and policies implemented to mitigate risk exposures. The entity is not exposed to significant currency risk or other price risk. The
risk management process relating to each of these risks are discussed under the headings below.
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk managament implies maintaining sufficient liquid resources and the ability to settle debts as they become
due. In the case of the entity, liquid resources consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents. The entity maintains adequate resources
by monitoring rolling cashflow forecast of the cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cashflow.
The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities at year end. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
At 31 March 2019
Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 2 years

Between
2 and 5 years

Over
5 years

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

1,468,873

-

-

-

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions

1,286,852

-

-

-

13,778,267

-

-

-

Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions
At 31 March 2018

Less than
1 year
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

Between
2 and 5 years

Over
5 years

3,301,070

-

-

-

861,941

-

-

-

1,055,544

-

-

-

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions

Between
1 and 2 years

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the entity if the counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the entity’s accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents. Strict credit control is
exercised and when necessary, provision is made for doubtful debts.
The entity is exposed to certain concentrations of credit risk relating to its cash balances. The entity only deposits cash with major
banks with high quality credit standings. The counterparties that are used by the entity are evaluated on a continuous basis.
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:
Financial instrument
Bank balance
Receivables

Annual Financial Statements

2019

2018

1,629,246

3,615,587

971,909

480,466
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Market risk
Interest rate risk
The entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is reflected under the respective notes. As part of managing the entity’s exposure
to interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings and the refinancing of existing borrowings are positioned
according to expected movements in interest rates.The entity manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using fixed interest rates.
As a result, the entity’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
The entity manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using fixed interest rates. As a result, the entity’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
Capital risk management
The entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern n order to provide
services to the public. The entity has developed systems and internal controls that are ufficient and effective in maintaining
efficient levels of working capital which ensure that the entity has sufficient cash flow to fund its operations. As a Public Entity, the
ofice has no desire to maintain a highly geared capital structure.
24. Events after the reporting date
On 11 June 2019, a creditor decided to write off a debt totalling R72,613.00. The debt written off related to library costs. This
represented an adjusting post balance sheet event which resulted in the annual financial statements having to be adjusted.

25. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
2019
Opening balance
Current year fruitless and wasteful expenditure – current year

2018

31,725

-

8,216

31,725

-

-

39,941

31,725

Payment was made to a service provider for disaster recovery subsequent
to contract cancellation.
Action Taken: Discplinary action was instituted.

-

25,878

Assets written off following asset count.
Action Taken: None

-

5,847

7,517

-

6

-

693

-

8,216

31,725

Payments made on maintenance contract after asset had been returned to the supplier.
Action Taken: Discplinary action was instituted.
Interest charged on printing account where the account was received by post.
The resultant postal delay resulted in the interest being charged.
Action Taken: None
Interest incurred on the Bulk SMS account due to delayed payments on contract entered into.
Action Taken: Disciplinary action to be instituted
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26. Irregular expenditure
Opening balance
Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year
Add: irregular expenditure identified in the current year relating to prior years
Less: amounts condoned

-

-

5,255,275

3,451,164

-

489,941

(2,906,902)

(3,941,105)

2,348,373

-

Details of irregular expenditure condoned
The matter relates to lease payments effected on the previous office lease. The matter had
been previously condoned. The amount disclosed is the expenditure incurred in the current
year.

2,906,902

-

The matter relates to the payments made towards the lease of the current office space. The
competitive bid process as required had not been followed.

1,196,055

-

The matter relates to payments made to a supplier after the contract had ended. The
procurement of a new supplier had been completed but due to the supplier being linked
to state capture allegations the office had to reassess their involvement with that supplier.

19,779

-

The services of an accounting firm were required as a matter of urgency when the previous
financial manager resigned effectively on 31 March 2018. Initially the contract entered into
was not expected to exceed R500,000 in total but due to the extent of services required the
contract value exceeded the R500,000 threshold which required the office to have followed
the competitive bid process rather than a request for quotation.

1,010,361

-

6,380

-

115,798

-

The matter relates to payments made to a supplier after the contract term had ended.
The matter relates to a deviation in Supply Chain Management processes where payment
made exceeded 15% of the original contract value. No National Treasury approval was
obtained for this deviation.
With the exception of the irregular expenditure relating to the leasehold improvement
each of the other matters reported above had been submitted to National Treasury for
condonation and their decision on the matters is still pending.

5,255,275
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27. Actual operating expenditure versus budgeted operating expenditure
The budget is prepared on the accrual basis. A surplus of R0.152 million was budgeted for the financial year. The retention of the surplus
was approved by National Treasury.
The reasons for differences between the budget and actual amounts are provided below:
Personnel cost
The savings on personnel cost against budget amounting to R10.1 million is mainly due to several vacancies in the organisations not being
filled, as well as lower incentive scheme payouts than budgeted for.
Depreciation and amortisation
The savings amounting to R0.161 million is due to the timing of the actual capital expenditure, as well as lower than budgeted capital
spendingfor the year. This was mainly as a result of the postponement of the replacement of the complaints handling system to the next
financial years. The useful life review and adjustment also contributed to the saving against budget.
General expenses
The underspending of general expenses amounting to R3.3 million was mainly due to cost saving relating to the lease of the new office
premises and lower than expected relocation costs.

28. Segment information
General information
Identification of segments
The entity is organised and reports to management on the basis of only one functional area: the resolution of complaints.

The existing operations does not warrant segmental reporting.
29. Employee benefits – defined contribution plan
The entity pays contributions towards the pension fund established for its employees. Other than these monthly contributions,
the entity has no other obligation to provide retirement benefits to its employees. The amounts recognised in the statement of
financial performance are as follows:
2019
Pension fund contributions
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2018
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“The secret of change
is to focus all of your energy
not on fighting the old,
but on building the new”
- Socrates

Performance Information
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
STRATEGIC GOAL 1: To resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious and informal manner to the satisfaction of customers
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

To resolve complaints is fair, expeditious and informal manner

OUTPUTS

Customer satisfaction survey forms. Closed complaint files

OUTCOMES

Satisfied customers

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

Target
2018/2019

1.1

% satisfied
customers as
measured on
returned CSFs
for all resolved
cases

85%

Performance Targets
Progress as at 31 March 2019

Explanation/ Variance

Quarter 1: April – June 2018

The achievement of
this goal in excess of
the 85% target was as a
result of the processes
and procedures put
in place within Case
Management to
monitor customer
satisfaction on an
ongoing basis.

On average, 99.086% of the customer satisfaction forms received rated our
services positively
Quarter 2: July - September 2018
On average, 97.98% of the customer satisfaction forms received rated our
services positively
Quarter 3: October - December 2018
On average, 98.275% of the customer satisfaction forms received rated our
services positively
Quarter 4: January - March 2019
On average, 98% of the customer satisfaction forms received rated our services
positively

This included, but
was not restricted to,
incorporating this goal
into the individual KPA’s
of the Case Managers.

Annual Average: 98%
This goal has been achieved
1.2

% closed
complaints
within 9
months of date
of receipt of
complaint

85%

Quarter 1: April – June 2018
Cases received in July 2017: 92.91 % closed by 30 April 2018
Cases received in August 2017: 93.92% closed by 31 May 2018
Cases received in September 2017: 91.51% closed by 30 June 2018
On average 92.86 % of cases received were closed within 9 months of receipt
Quarter 2: July – September 2018
Cases received in October 2017: 92.78 % closed by 31 July 2018
Cases received in November 2017: 93.99% closed by 31 August 2018
Cases received in December 2017: 93.57% closed by 30 September 2018
On average 93.43% of cases received were closed within 9 months of receipt

The achievement of
this goal in excess of
the 85% target was as a
result of the processes
and procedures put
in place within Case
Management to
monitor and report
on the achievement of
this goal on an ongoing
basis and to address
any concerns that may
arise as and when they
occur.

Quarter 3: October - December 2018
Cases received in January 2018: 96.12% closed by 31 October 2018
Cases received in February 2018: 97.50% closed by 30 November 2018
Cases received in March 2018: 95.77% closed by 31 December 2018
On average 96.49% of cases received were closed within 9 months of receipt
Quarter 4: January – March 2019
Cases received in April 2018: 99.55% closed by 31 January 2019
Cases received in May 2018: 98.82% closed by 28 February 2019
Cases received in June 2018: 98.59% closed by 31 March 2019
On average 98.97% of cases received were closed within 9 months of receipt
Annual Average: 95%
This goal has been achieved
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STRATEGIC GOAL 1: To resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious and informal manner to the satisfaction of customers
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

To resolve complaints is fair, expeditious and informal manner

OUTPUTS

Customer satisfaction survey forms. Closed complaint files

OUTCOMES

Satisfied customers

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

Target
2018/2019

1.3

% satisfied
customers
in respect of
process and
communication
as measured by
returned CSFs
for dismissed,
settled and
referred cases

85%

Performance Targets
Progress as at 31 March 2019

Explanation/ Variance

Quarter 1: April – June 2018

The achievement of
this goal in excess of
the 85% target was as a
result of the processes
and procedures put
in place within Case
Management to
monitor customer
satisfaction on an
ongoing basis. This
included, but was
not restricted to,
incorporating this goal
into the individual KPA’s
of the Case Managers.

97.53% cases dismissed
100% cases settled
100% cases referred
On average 97.53 % cases dismissed recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 100% cases settled recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 100% cases referred recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
Quarter 2: July – September 2018
97.26% cases dismissed
98.77% cases settled
91.67% cases referred
On average 97.26 % cases dismissed recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 98.77% cases settled recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 91.67% cases referred recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
Quarter 3: October - December 2018
100% cases dismissed
99.01% cases settled
88.235% cases referred
00% cases dismissed recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 99.01% cases settled recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 88.235% cases referred recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
Quarter 4: January – March 2019
95.71% cases dismissed
99.14% cases settled
100% cases referred
On average 95.71 % cases dismissed recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 99,.14% cases settled recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
On average 100% cases referred recorded satisfaction with our process and
communication
Annual Average: 97%
This goal has been achieved
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STRATEGIC GOAL 1: To resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious and informal manner to the satisfaction of customers
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

To resolve complaints is fair, expeditious and informal manner

OUTPUTS

Customer satisfaction survey forms. Closed complaint files

OUTCOMES

Satisfied customers

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

Target
2018/2019

1.4

% satisfied
customers in
respect of ease
of access to
the office as
measured by
returned CSFs

85%

Performance Targets
Progress as at 31 March 2019

Explanation/ Variance

Quarter 1: April – June 2018

The achievement of
this goal in excess of
the 85% target was as a
result of the processes
and procedures put
in place within Case
Management to
monitor customer
satisfaction on an
ongoing basis. This
included, but was
not restricted to,
incorporating this goal
into the individual KPA’s
of the Case Managers.

97.01% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access
On average 97.01% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access to the office
Quarter 2: July - September 2018
95.90% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access
On average 95.90% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access to the office
Quarter 3: October - December 2018
96.29% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access
On average 96.29% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access to the office
Quarter 4: January - March 2019
96.67% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access
On average 96.67% satisfied customers in respect of ease of access to the office
Annual Average: 96%
This goal has been achieved

1.5

% complaints
responded to
within 7 days of
date of receipt
of complaint

90%

Quarter 1: April – June 2018
99.76% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
On average 99.76% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
Quarter 2: July - September 2018
100% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
On average 100% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
Quarter 3: October - December 2018
99.97% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
On average 99.97% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
Quarter 4: January - March 2019

There have also been
active efforts made by
Senior Management
to improve awareness
of this Office and the
services it provides.
The achievement of
this goal in excess of
the 90% target was as a
result of the processes
and procedures put
in place within the
Case Administration
Department to monitor
and report on the
achievement of this
goal on an ongoing
basis and to address
any concerns that may
arise as and when they
occur

97.60% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
On average 97.60% complaints responded to within 7 days of date of receipt
Annual Average: 99%
This goal has been achieved
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STRATEGIC GOAL 1: To resolve complaints in a fair, expeditious and informal manner to the satisfaction of customers
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

To resolve complaints is fair, expeditious and informal manner

OUTPUTS

Customer satisfaction survey forms. Closed complaint files

OUTCOMES

Satisfied customers

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

Target
2018/2019

1.6

1.7

Maximum
% active
complaints older
than 9 months
of total active
complaints
(excluding
property
syndication
complaints)

25%

Efficiency
ratio (% closed
complaints
of complaints
received in
2018/19)

80%

Performance Targets
Progress as at 31 March 2019

Explanation/ Variance

Total Active Complaints – 1920
Complaints > 9 Months – 283
Percentage > 9 Months – 15%

The achievement of this goal in excess of the 25% target was
as a result of the processes and procedures put in place within
Case Management to monitor and report on the achievement
of this goal.

Percentage as at 31 March 2019: 15%
This goal has been achieved

This was a new goal in terms of the APP for the 2018/2019
financial year, and active steps were taken to address
complaints in excess of 9 months, which included setting
specific targets for Case Managers in terms of their KPAs.
This goal was also monitored on a weekly and monthly
basis to ensure that progress was being made towards the
achievement thereof.

Total complaints Received – 9323 (622
Enquiries)
Total Dismissed – 420
Total Referred – 292
Total Settled – 164
Total Active – 1660 (82%)
Percentage as at 31 March 2019: 82%
This goal has been achieved

The achievement of this goal in excess of the 80% target was
as a result of the processes and procedures put in place within
Case Management, to monitor and report on the achievement
of this goal.
This was a new goal in terms of the APP for the 2018/2019
financial year, and active steps were taken to ensure that the
Office was able to achieve this target despite specific legislative
procedures that are required during the investigation of
complaints.
This goal was also monitored on a weekly and monthly
basis to ensure that progress was being made towards the
achievement thereof.
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STRATEGIC GOAL 2: Achieve operational excellence
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

To optimise internal capacity, business processes and systems to achieve operational excellence

OUTPUTS

Unqualified audit report. Approved Budget. Management accounts. Internship contracts. Revised Training
plan. Executed training plan. Reviewed HR policies. Implemented performance management system.
Approved succession plan. Updated Compliance and Risk Management Framework. Implemented IT plan.

OUTCOMES

Operational excellence. Enhanced internal effectiveness and service delivery. Sufficient funds to deliver
on mandate. Motivated staff to achieve FAIS Ombud’s objectives. The FAIS Ombud is seen as a compliant
entity

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

Target
2018/2019

2.1

2.2

Type of audit opinion
issued by AG in respect
of Annual Financial
Statements and
Performance Information
Minimum number
of trainee contracts
concluded

Unqualified
audit
Opinion

Performance Targets
Progress as at 31 March 2019

Explanation/ Variance

The FAIS Ombud achieved an unqualified audit opinion of its
2017/2018 Annual Financial Statements, which exceeds the
target of an unqualified opinion.

This goal was achieved based
on the audit opinion issued by
the AG based on the Annual
Financial Statements.

This goal has been achieved
9

By 31 March 2019 a total of 11 Graduate Trainee contracts
had been concluded.
This goal has been achieved

2.3

% adherence to
performance
management system
as set out in the
implementation plan

100%

According to the performance management policy, only 2
performance appraisals are required to be conducted during
the assessment year. All performance appraisals were
conducted.

This target was exceeded as
in addition to the 9 contracts
concluded in respect of the
Case Management Department,
Graduate Trainee contracts
were concluded in respect of
the ICT Department.
This goal has been achieved
in accordance with the
requirements of the
Performance Management
Policy.

This goal has been achieved
2.4

% disabled employees of
total employees

2%

2%

This goal was achieved as
required.

This goal has been achieved
2.5

% female employees of
total employees

51%

A total of 64% of employees are female

This goal was achieved and
exceeded as required.

This goal has been achieved
2.6

% black employees of
total employees

75%

A total of 89% of employees are black

This goal was achieved and
exceeded as required.

This goal has been achieved
2.7

Payment of invoices
within 30 days - % of
invoices paid within 30
days of receipt

95%

A total of 646 payments had been effected for the financial
period ending 31 March 2019. Thirty-two (32) payments
were not paid within the 30 days of receipt. As a result, 95%
of payments were made within the prescribed period.

This goal was achieved as a
result of the processes and
procedures put in place to
ensure effective monitoring of
this requirement.

This goal has been achieved
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STRATEGIC GOAL 3: Enhanced stakeholder management
STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

To manage stakeholder relationships

OUTPUTS

Implemented marketing and communication plan

OUTCOMES

Enhanced relationships (improved co-operation with stakeholders)

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

Target
2018/2019

3.1

Hits on
website

2500

Performance Targets
Progress as at 31 March 2019

Explanation/ Variance

Quarter 1:

This goal was exceeded as
there have been concerted
efforts to increase the
awareness of this Office
which include notifying
and encouraging the public
to utilise the website for
information on submitting
complaints.

April 2018 -2076
May 2018 - 4364
June 2018 – 4279
Average: 3573
Quarter 2:
July 2018 -4256
August 2018 - 4123
September 2018 – 4662
Average: 4347
Quarter 3:

It is now possible to submit a
complaint via the website.
Vacancies are regularly
advertised.

October 2018 - 5533
November 2018 - 6675
December 2018 – 5761
Average: 5990
Quarter 4:
January 2019 - 7065
February 2019 - 7843
March 2019 – 7922
Average: 7610
Annual Average: 5380
This goal has been achieved
3.2

Numbers of
engagements
with key
stakeholders,
including
outreach
programs

38

Quarter 1 target: 9
32 engagements were held with key stakeholders by 30 June 2018
Quarter 2 target: 9
40 engagements were held with key stakeholders by 30 September 2018
Quarter 3 target: 9
63 engagements were held with key stakeholders by 31 December 2018
Quarter 4 target: 9
41 engagements were held with key stakeholders by 31 March 2019

With the introduction of the
FSR Act and the movement
towards a consolidated
ombud environment,
stakeholder engagement
has been a crucial focus of
this Office to ensure that it
is able to meet the changing
demands of legislation.
This has seen this goal
achieved and exceeded.

Annual Average: 44
This goal has been achieved
3.3

Numbers of
media related
activities

28

Quarter 1 target: 7
5 media related activities were held by 30 June 2018
Quarter 2 target: 7
13 media related activities were held by 30 September 2018
Quarter 3 target: 7
17 media related activities were held by 31 December 2018
Quarter 4 target: 7
35 media related activities were held by 31 March 2019

There has been a concerted
effort to increase the
awareness of this Office
and the service it provides.
This has included increased
consumer awareness
campaigns, increased
number of press releases
and engagement with media
through radio a newspaper
interviews.
This has seen this goal
achieved and exceeded.

Annual Average: 18
This goal has been achieved
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“Continuity gives us roots;
change gives us branches,
letting us stretch and grow
and reach new heights.”
- Pauline R. Kezer

FAIS OMBUD
Physical Address:
Kasteelpark, Orange Building, 2nd Floor, 546 Jochemus
Street, Erasmuskloof, Pretoria
Latitude -25.74486
Longtitude 28.18783
S 25° 44’ 41.496”
E 28° 11’ 16.188”
Postal Address: P.O. Box 74571 Lynnwood Ridge 0040
Contact Details:
Tel: +27 12 762 5000 / +27 12 470 9080
Fax: +27 12 348 3447 / +27 12 470 9097 / 086 764 1422
Email: info@faisombud.co.za www.faisombud.co.za
External Auditors: Auditor-General South Africa
Banker: Standard Bank

